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An Important Note to Readers


Though the publisher and authors have taken reasonable steps to ensure the accuracy and timeliness of the information contained in the book, readers are strongly encouraged to confirm details before making any travel plans. Location and direction information may change; GPS coordinates are approximations and should be treated as such. If you discover any out-of-date or incorrect information in the book, please let us know via book@atlasobscura.com.


Atlas Obscura was written in the spirit of adventure, and readers are cautioned to travel at their own risk and to obey all local laws. Some of the places described in this book are not open to the public and are not meant to be visited without appropriate permissions. Neither the authors nor the publisher shall be liable or responsible for any loss, injury, or damage allegedly arising from any information or suggestions contained in this book.









The beginning of our happiness lies in the understanding that life without wonder is not worth living.


—Abraham Joshua Heschel
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More than 350 feet below the surface, rowboats bob on a lake inside Romania’s Turda Salt Mine. Now an underground amusement park, the mine produced table salt continuously from the 11th century until the 1930s. Page 88.










introduction


When we launched Atlas Obscura in 2009, our goal was to create a catalog of all the places, people, and things that inspire our sense of wonder. One of us had recently spent two months driving all over the United States searching out tiny museums and eccentric outsider art projects. The other was about to set off for a year of travels in Eastern Europe. We wanted a way of finding the curious, out-of-the-way places that don’t often make it into traditional guidebooks—the kinds of destinations that expand our sense of what is possible, but which we would never be able to find without a tip from someone in the know. Over the years, thousands of people from all over the world have joined us in this collaborative project by contributing entries to the Atlas. This book represents just a tiny fraction of what our community has unearthed. Every one of you out there who added a place to the Atlas, made an edit, or sent in a photo: You are all our co­authors. Thank you.


This revised second edition has been updated to include over 100 incredible new places that members of our community have shared with us since the first edition of this book was published in 2016. We’ve also added a foldout map depicting our idea of the world’s most amazing (and longest) road trip. Though Atlas Obscura may have the trappings of a travel guide, it is in truth something else. The site, and this book, are a kind of wunderkammer of places, a cabinet of curiosities that is meant to inspire wonderlust as much as wanderlust. In fact, many of the places in this book are in no way “tourist sites” and should not be treated as such. Others are so out of the way, so treacherously situated, or (in at least one case) so deep beneath the surface, that few readers will ever be able to visit them. But here they are, sharing this marvelously strange planet with us.


This book would never exist without the incomparable and indefatigable Ella Morton, or our ace project manager, Marc Haeringer, who guided this book from beginning to end. Though we have tried to check the accuracy of every fact in these pages, please don’t book any plane tickets without first doing your own independent research. Or do! Just be ready for an adventure.


We often ask ourselves just how large a truly comprehensive compendium of the world’s wonders and curiosities could ultimately be. The economics of printing and the dimensions of the page set limits on what could be included in this book. But even our website, which faces no such constraints, can never be complete. There is an Atlas Obscura yet to be written that is as comprehensive as the world itself, for wonder can be found wherever we are open to searching for it.


Joshua Foer and Dylan Thuras
cofounders of Atlas Obscura










Europe


Great Britain and Ireland


England	 • Ireland	 • Northern Ireland	 • Scotland






Western Europe


Austria	 • Belgium	 • France	 • Germany	 • Greece	 • Cyprus	 • Italy	 • Netherlands	 • Portugal	 • Spain	 • Switzerland






Eastern Europe


Bulgaria	 • Croatia	 • Czech Republic	 • Estonia	 • Hungary	 • Latvia	 • Lithuania	 • Macedonia	 • Poland	 • Romania	 • Russia	 • Serbia	 • Slovakia	 • Ukraine






Scandinavia


Denmark	 • Finland	 • Iceland	 • Norway	 • Sweden









[image: Images]


England


The Silver Swan


Newgate, Durham
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This uncannily lifelike musical automaton mimics a full-size swan floating on a pond of spun-glass rods. Created in the 1770s, it uses three clockwork mechanisms to perform a 40-second routine set to calming bell-like music. When wound, the swan moves its neck from side to side to preen its feathers before dipping its beak into the pond and snatching up a tiny fish.


First displayed in British jeweler James Cox’s Mechanical Museum, the swan was purchased by collector John Bowes in 1872 and is now housed in the Bowes Museum—a French chateau in the north of England.


Bowes Museum, Newgate. A museum curator demonstrates the swan at 2 p.m. daily. The Bowes Museum is 17 miles (27.4 km) from Darlington railway station, which is a 2.5-hour train trip from London. Buses run from the station to the museum. N 54.542142 W 1.915462   [image: Images]


[image: Images]  Walking, Eating, Moving Machines


Automatons—mechanical figures that move in an eerily lifelike manner—have existed for centuries, but their heyday was during the 18th and 19th centuries.




	[image: Images]


The Turk had a human microcontroller.





The Turk, built in 1770, was one of the most impressive: It consisted of a mechanical man in a turban who played chess against anyone willing to take him on. The machine toured the world, battling opponents like Napoleon Bonaparte and Benjamin Franklin. During the early 19th century, the Turk’s apparent intelligence and skill dazzled audiences and frustrated skeptics, who suspected a trick.


In the end, eagle-eyed observers, including Edgar Allan Poe, who encountered the Turk in Virginia in 1835, discovered the secret: a hidden human. The cabinet beneath the chess board held a squashed chess master who made every move by candlelight, pulling levers to operate the Turk’s arm and keeping track of the moves on his or her own board. The Turk was nothing but an elaborate hoax.


While the Turk was frustrating its opponents, genuine automatons delighted onlookers with their realistic movements. The Digesting Duck, the 1739 creation of Jacques de Vaucanson, flapped its wings, moved its head, ate grains, and shortly afterward defecated. The digestion process was not authentic—the duck’s backside housed a reservoir of droppings that would fall in response to the amount of grains being “eaten”—but it was the first step toward what de Vaucanson hoped would eventually be a genuine eating machine.


Pierre Jaquet-Droz and his two sons spent six years starting in 1768 crafting The Musician, The Draftsman, and The Writer, a trio of dolls now housed in Switzerland’s Museum of Art and History. The female musician plays an organ, her chest rising and falling to mimic breathing and her body moving in the manner of an impassioned pianist. The draftsman and writer are dressed identically in lacy shirts, gold satin breeches, and red velvet robes, and each sits at a desk. While the draftsman draws one of four programmed images, including portraits of Louis XV and a dog, the writer dips a goose feather in ink and can write custom text of up to 40 characters.


Steam Men were all the rage in the late 1800s, beginning with 22-year-old New Jersey resident Zadoc Dederick’s 1868 model: a 7-foot-9-inch (236 cm) man in a top hat who pulled a carriage. His bulky torso housed a boiler that generated enough power to propel him forward, one footstep at a time.


Canadian George Moore’s 1893 version, unattached to a carriage, measured 6 feet (2 m) tall and resembled a medieval knight. An exhaust pipe emerged from his nostril, making him appear to have steamy breath whenever he walked. His movement was limited by one crucial factor: Since he was attached to a horizontal stabilizing arm, he could only walk in circles.


Tipu’s Tiger, a tidy representation of the enmity between the residents of India and their 18th-century British colonizers, is an Indian-made, crank-operated toy located in the Victoria & Albert Museum. It depicts a tiger mauling a helpless British officer. Turning the handle makes the man’s left hand rise weakly in an attempt to shield his face from the attack. As the hand moves up and down, air rushes through two pairs of bellows. The resulting sounds—beastly growls and the cries of a man in his death throes—leave no ambiguity as to who wins the tussle.
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Tipu’s Tiger, immortalized mid-meal.






The Poison Garden


Alnwick, Northumberland


To enter the poison garden of Alnwick, you must first fetch a guide to unlock the black iron gates, which are decorated with a white skull and crossbones and a worrying message: “These plants can kill.”


Inspired by the poison gardens in 16th-century Padua where the Medicis plotted the frothing ends of their royal enemies, the Duchess of Northumberland created this garden in 2005, dedicating it entirely to poisonous or narcotic flora.


The duchess, Jane Percy, is an unlikely patron. In 1995, her husband unexpectedly became the twelfth Duke of Northumberland following his brother’s death, and Alnwick Castle fell into their family’s care. Roaming the elaborate gardens, the newly minted duchess decided to transform an overgrown, neglected section into something that was at once both traditional and dangerous. The poison garden now sits nestled among 14 acres of greenery dotted with water sculptures, a cherry orchard, a bamboo labyrinth, and an enormous tree house.


This carefully curated garden contains about 100 plants that have the power to stimulate, intoxicate, sicken, or kill. Guides detail their dangerous properties while enforcing the strict “No touching; no smelling” rules. Poppies, cannabis, hallucinogenic mushrooms, and deadly strychnine are among the innocent-looking greenery. Because of the danger posed by the flora (some can kill or sicken just through touch), some plants are caged, and the garden is secured under a 24-hour security watch.


Denwick Lane, Alnwick. The garden is open from March to October. N 55.414098 W 1.700515
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Strychnos nux-vomica contains strychnine, which can cause severe nausea, frothing at the mouth, body spasms, and death.
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Connie macalatum, better known as hemlock, was the poisonous plant used to bring down Socrates.
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If ingested, lily of the valley may cause abdominal pain, vomiting, slowing of the heart, and blurred vision.
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Psilocybin mushrooms can induce euphoria, an altered sense of time, and trippy visuals.






The Chained Books of Hereford Cathedral


Hereford, Herefordshire
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This cathedral contains two medieval marvels: a chained library of rare books and one of the earliest maps of the world.


In the Middle Ages, before the availability of the printing press, volumes on law and religion were quite rare and valuable. To protect against theft, the books at Hereford Cathedral were chained to desks, pulpits, and study tables.


The chained library was created in 1611 when a collection of hand-transcribed, hand-bound books was moved into the Lady Chapel. Most of the volumes in the collection are acquisitions dating back to the 1100s, although the oldest book in the collection, the Hereford Gospels, dates to about the year 800.


The medieval world map stored at Hereford Cathedral depicts three continents: Europe, Asia, and Africa. On the as-yet-unexplored periphery of these lands roam fire-breathing dragons, dog-faced men, people who survive on only the scent of apples, and the Monocoli, a race of mythical beings who take shade under their giant feet when the sun becomes too bright.


The 5 × 4.5-foot map (1.5 × 1.4 m), created around 1300, is part geography, part history, and part religious teaching aid. A lack of confirmed information on Asian and African geography presented no obstacle for the mapmaker, who used hearsay, mythology, and imagination to fill in the gaps—which explains the four-eyed Ethiopians.


5 College Cloisters, Cathedral Close, Hereford. The cathedral is a 3.5-hour train trip from London and a 15-minute walk from Hereford railway station. N 52.053613 W 2.714945


Also in Northern England


Steetley Magnesite


Hartlepool · This derelict chemical plant on the North Sea is a photogenic industrial ruin.


Beverley Sanctuary Stones


Beverley · A haven for criminals of all stripes, these stones mark a sacred area where the medieval church provided asylum to thieves and brigands.


Mechanical Clock at Salisbury Cathedral


Salisbury, Wiltshire


The mechanical clock at Salisbury Cathedral is old, but just how old is the subject of ongoing debate. The exact date is a matter of importance, for if it was built in 1386, as many horologists believe, it is the oldest working clock in the world.


The faceless clock introduced Salisbury to the new concept of standardized hours, which would replace the season-based increments of the sundial era. It chimed hourly, reminding townspeople to attend church services, and provided a reliable structure for each day.


In 1928, following its rediscovery in the cathedral tower, the clock was disassembled and restored. Although it no longer chimes, today the clock functions in much the same way as it did more than 600 years ago, striking away the hours in the north aisle of the nave.


Salisbury Cathedral, 33 The Close, Salisbury. Trains from London (Waterloo) take 90 minutes. The cathedral is a 10-minute walk from Salisbury station. N 51.064933 W 1.797677
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Salisbury’s 600-year-old timepiece may be the oldest working clock in the world.
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George Merryweather’s carousel of weather-predicting leeches was more charming than accurate.





The Tempest Prognosticator


Okehampton, Devon


Surgeon George Merryweather had a passion for leeches. According to Merryweather, the creepy worms possessed humanlike instincts, experienced the hollow ache of loneliness, and were capable of forecasting weather. All this gave him an idea for a machine that he believed could transform meteorology.


In 1851, Merryweather unveiled his “tempest prognosticator” at the Great Exhibition in London. Having witnessed the agitation of freshwater leeches during the lead-up to a heavy storm, the doctor concluded he could build a leech-powered weather forecasting device. The contraption resembled a miniature merry-go-round, but in place of the usual ponies were a dozen glass bottles, each containing a single leech. Should a storm approach, the creatures would make their way to the top of the glass, triggering a wire connected to a central bell.


Though certainly novel, Merryweather’s invention did not catch on. His vision of the British government deploying tempest prognosticators nationwide remained mere fantasy, but his invention lives on in the form of a reconstructed version prominently displayed in the Barometer World Exhibition museum in Devon. (Another can be found in the Whitby Museum in North Yorkshire.)


Quicksilver Barn, Merton, Okehampton. The museum is open by appointment. N 50.891854 W 4.095316


Also in Southwest England


The World’s Largest Greenhouse


St Austell · Huge inflated domes at the Eden Project contain artificial biomes with over one million types of plants.


Lost Gardens of Heligan


St Austell · A 400-year-old garden with fantastical sculptures that has been restored to beauty after years of neglect.


The Museum of Witchcraft and Magic


Boscastle · The world’s largest collection of occult- and witchcraft-related artifacts includes dried cats.


The House That Moved


Exeter · A 21-ton Tudor home built in the 1500s and moved 230 feet (70 m) down the street on thick iron rails in 1961 to make way for a new road.


The Cheddar Man and Cannibals Museum


Cheddar · A museum about life, death, and cannibalism in prehistoric Britain.



Witley Underwater Ballroom


Godalming
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The 9,000-acre Victorian estate of James Whitaker Wright was extravagant in every way. With the fortune he made from years of financial fraud, Wright built a 32-room mansion set on lavishly landscaped grounds that included three artificial lakes. Hidden underneath one of the lakes is his most spectacular creation of all: the underwater ballroom.


Built just below the surface of the water, this glorious submerged room has a domed, glass-paneled aquarium roof crowned with an epic statue that rises above the lake as if it’s floating on the water. Called a “ballroom” due to its round shape and overall grandeur, the room was actually a smoking room where Wright would entertain his lucky guests. It was splendid, and like everything else on Wright’s estate, it was ultimately doomed.


Wright built his palatial home with the money he made from swindling investors out of millions of dollars. In 1904, he was caught, convicted of fraud, and sentenced to seven years in prison. But Wright would never serve time. In a court anteroom, he took his own life by swallowing a cyanide pill immediately after the sentencing. After his death, the estate was purchased by Irish shipbuilder William Pirrie (of SS Titanic fame). The mansion was destroyed in a fire in 1952, but the now ancient-looking ballroom is still there, algae-covered and rusting away beneath the lake.


Witley Park is a private property, and while permission is occasionally granted to view the ballroom, it isn’t open to the public. N 51.147834 W 0.683197
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A statue of Neptune floats atop this subterranean smoking room.





No Man’s Land Luxury Sea Fort


Gosport, Hampshire


On maps, it registers as a tiny, nameless speck in the Solent strait between mainland England and the Isle of Wight, but No Man’s Land Fort has a dramatic history that belies its cartographic insignificance.


Built in the late 1800s to protect the English coast against a French invasion that never happened, No Man’s Land could accommodate 80 soldiers and 49 cannons.


The 200-foot-wide (61 m) fort sat idle for decades, and the Ministry of Defense decommissioned No Man’s Land in the 1950s. When the government tried to sell it in 1963, no buyers came forward. In the 1990s, the abandoned fort was transformed into a luxury hotel, complete with two helipads, 21 bedrooms, a roof garden, and restaurants. The submerged center was glassed in as an atrium for the heated pool. Despite its creature comforts and promise of privacy, the hotel never took off.
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Now available for laser-themed birthdays.





In 2004, developer Harmesh Pooni bought No Man’s Land for £6 million (about $9 million at the time) with the intention of renting it out for special occasions. Unfortunately, contaminated water in the hotel pool caused an outbreak of Legionnaires’ disease. Faced with financial ruin and the possibility of losing the island, Pooni took an extreme approach: He covered the helipads with upturned tables, grabbed his keys, and barricaded himself inside the fortress. After a protracted standoff, he was finally evicted in early 2009.


No Man’s Land sold for the bargain price of £910,000 (around $1.36 million) in March 2009 to Gibraltar-based Swanmore Estates Ltd. The fort has since been transformed into a venue for weddings and corporate retreats. Standout features include a sauna, a cabaret club, and a laser tag arena located in the former gunpowder storage area.


The Solent is 1.4 miles (2.3 km) north of the Isle of Wight. N 50.739546 W 1.094995
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Before radar, huge concrete “ears” were built to listen for incoming enemy aircraft.





Greatstone Sound Mirrors


Greatstone, Kent


As part of its national defense strategy after World War I, Britain built three massive concrete acoustic mirrors on the southeast coast of England to detect the sound of distant airplane engines in the sky. Working much like giant ears, the trio of reflectors could provide a 15-minute warning of an air invasion by magnifying the sound waves over the English Channel and directing them at microphones. An operator sitting in a nearby booth listened to the transmitted signal through headphones that resembled a stethoscope.


The Greatstone site features three different reflectors, including a 200-foot-long (61 m) curved wall, a 30-foot-tall (9 m) parabolic dish, and a 20-foot-tall (6 m) shallow dish.


Dungeness National Nature Reserve, off Dungeness Road, Romney Marsh. N 50.956111 E 0.953889


Also in Southeast England


The Little Chapel


Guernsey · One of the smallest chapels in the world, intricately decorated with stones, pebbles, broken china, and glass.


The Margate Shell Grotto


Margate · Discovered in 1835, this mysterious subterranean passageway of unknown age is covered with mystical designs made entirely from seashells.


Maunsell Army Sea Forts


Thames Estuary, off the east coast of England


Rising from the water like robotic sentinels on stilts, the Maunsell Army Sea Forts in the Thames Estuary east of London are rusting reminders of World War II’s darkest days. Part of the Thames Estuary defense network, the anti-aircraft tower-forts were constructed in 1942 to deter German air raids. Each of the three original forts consisted of a cluster of seven buildings on stilts surrounding a central command tower. Two remain: the Red Sands Fort and the Shivering Sands Fort.


After their wartime career the forts were decommissioned. In the 1960s, pirate-radio broadcasters moved in and established unauthorized stations in the remaining forts. In 1966, Reginald Calvert, manager of the Radio City pirate station, died in a fight with rival Radio Caroline station owner Oliver Smedley. The next year, the British government passed legislation making offshore broadcasting illegal, driving out the pirates and leaving the forts abandoned.


Attempting to enter the decaying forts is not advised. They can be seen by boat or, on a clear day, from Shoeburyness East Beach. N 51.361047 E 1.024256
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An overhead plan of the forts, which were once connected by bridges.


Attention, H. G. Wells: Your rusty invaders have arrived.
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A millennium-long piece of music composed for Tibetan singing bowls will be playing at Trinity Buoy Wharf through 2999.





Longplayer


London


If you miss hearing Longplayer on your next trip to London, you’ll get the chance to catch it again—the musical composition will be playing in the old lighthouse at Trinity Buoy Wharf for the next 1,000 years. Longplayer consists of six short recorded pieces written for Tibetan singing bowls that are transposed and combined in such a way that the variations will never repeat during the song’s millennium-long run. It began playing on December 31, 1999, and is scheduled to end in the dying seconds of 2999.


Custodians of the project have established the Longplayer Trust to devise ways of keeping the music alive in the face of the inevitable technological and social changes that will occur over the next ten centuries.


64 Orchard Place, London. Open on weekends. The nearest Tube stop is Canning Town. You can also listen to a livestream of the composition on longplayer.org. N 51.508514 E 0.008079


Also in London


Clapham North Deep-Level Air Raid Shelter


London · An abandoned World War II bomb shelter, it is the only one of eight deep-level air raid shelters that sits unused.


The Lost River Fleet


London · The largest of London’s subterranean rivers now flows through its sewers. The Fleet can be heard flowing through a grate in front of the Coach and Horse pub on Ray Street, Clerkenwell.


The Churchill War Rooms


Westminster · These perfectly preserved underground rooms are where Winston Churchill and his cabinet toiled as they waged war against Hitler’s Germany.


Lilliputian Police Station


Trafalgar Square · Now a glorified broom closet, in its heyday London’s smallest police station was staffed with eagle-eyed bobbies to keep rowdy Trafalgar Square protesters under control.


The Old Operating Theatre Museum and Herb Garret


Southwark · Sharing the attic of St. Thomas Church with some dusty cobwebs and specimens that seem to be molting, Europe’s oldest operating theater looks a lot like it probably did in 1822, minus the screaming, bloody patients.




City Guide: More to Explore in London


The Hardy Tree


Camden Town • Inside the walls of Saint Pancras Churchyard is an ash tree with scores of gravestones encircling the trunk. The scalloped rows were formed by novelist Thomas Hardy when he was just a moody young architecture student enlisted to care for the churchyard.


Masonic Lodge of the Andaz Hotel


East London • Forgotten behind a wall for decades, this sumptuous Masonic lodge was rediscovered during renovations, and looks like something out of an Agatha Christie novel.


The Last Tuesday Society’s Viktor Wynd Museum of Curiosities, Fine Art & Natural History


Dalston • This reinterpretation of a 17th-century Wunderkabinett is a museum, cafe, and art gallery—one part retro-Victorian curiosity shop, two parts dusty horror show, with a jigger or two waiting for you at the bar upstairs.


Wellcome Collection & Library


Bloomsbury • The medical curios of an American pharmacist, collector, and philanthropist run the gamut from Napoleon’s toothbrush to a re-creation of a 16th-century barber-surgeon workshop.


Grant Museum of Zoology and Comparative Anatomy


Bloomsbury • With more than 60,000 creatures, including a few that are long extinct and a micrarium of teeny-tiny ones, this is the last of London’s zoological museums still open to the public.


Lullaby Factory


Bloomsbury • Wedged between two buildings at the Great Ormond Street Hospital is a secret lullaby-music machine, a network of instruments made of pipes, horns, and pieces of an old hospital boiler.


Novelty Automation


Holborn • These arcade games and satiric automata cover a range of experiences such as “How to practice money laundering,” “Buy a house before you get too old,” and “Operate a nuclear reactor.”


Sir John Soane’s Museum


Holborn • A treasure trove of a museum, Soane’s is topped with a glass dome and well stacked with tens of thousands of sculptures, paintings, antiquities, and artifacts.


Hunterian Museum


Holborn • John Hunter may have been a bit of a mad scientist, but this anatomical museum befits the unconventional doctor, scientist, and collector of all bodily things, including half of mathematician Charles Babbage’s brain and the seven-and-a-half-foot skeleton of Charles Byrne, the 18th-century “Irish Giant” (Hunter may have bribed the undertaker to get that one).


Polly at Ye Olde Cheshire Cheese


Holborn • The taxidermied remains of this beloved parrot still swing in a cage at this 17th-century pub, a former hangout for literary types like Dickens, Tennyson, Twain, and Sir Arthur Conan Doyle.


The First Public Drinking Fountain


Holborn • We can thank the Metropolitan Drinking Fountain and Cattle Trough Association for this 1859 public water fountain, London’s very first and an instant hit.


Memorial to Self-Sacrifice


City of London • Slipped into a quiet jewel of a park is a poignant wall of tiled memorials to the bravery of policemen, firemen, and ordinary Londoners who gave their lives to save others.
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Headstones arranged by Thomas Hardy.





Whispering Gallery at St. Paul’s Cathedral


City of London • The acoustics of St. Paul’s Cathedral Dome, designed by the great Christopher Wren, have a hushed and hidden secret: Speak across the span, all 137 feet (42 m) of glorious light and air, and every word is crystal clear, like a secret whispered in your ear.


Temple of Mithras


City of London • Just blocks from the financial heart of the City of London is a reminder of the city of Londinium: the reassembled remnants of a temple to the Roman god Mithras, whose mystery cult has fueled conspiracy theories for centuries.


London’s Original and All-Inspiring Coffee House


City of London • The site of London’s first coffee house is still serving drinks of one kind or another, as it has for more than 360 years.


Tomb of the Unknown London Girl


City of London • The 1,600-year-old remains of a Roman girl are reinterred and memorialized at the base of the “Gherkin,” a modern architectural landmark.


Shackleton’s Crow’s Nest


City of London • The lookout from Sir Ernest Shackleton’s last ship is inside the crypt of All Hallows-by-the-Tower, one of London’s oldest churches.


Houseboats of Regent’s Canal


Limehouse • A group of artists and entrepreneurs has built a bohemian community of colorful houseboats along the 8 miles from Little Venice to Limehouse.


Hyde Park Pet Cemetery


Hyde Park • Here lie Dolly, Rex, and Pupsey, in a cemetery devoted to more than 300 Victorian-era furry companions, inside one of the city’s largest parks.


Seven Noses of Soho


Soho • Originally numbering 35, it’s a challenge to find all the surviving schnoz sculptures (no one really has an exact count) scattered around Soho by artist Rick Buckley—his protest against the proliferation of too many nosy “Big Brother” CCTV cameras. On Bateman Street, Meard Street, D’Arblay Street, Great Windmill Street, Shaftesbury Avenue, Endell Street, and Floral Street.






Jeremy Bentham’s Auto Icon


London


Jeremy Bentham has been sitting in a corridor at University College London since 1850.


The moral philosopher, whose advocacy of animal welfare, prison reform, universal suffrage, and gay rights was far ahead of his time, left a will with specific instructions on the treatment of his corpse. He decreed that his mummified head and skeleton be clad in a black suit, seated upright on a chair in a wooden cabinet, under a placard reading “Auto Icon.” He also suggested that his corpse could preside over regular meetings of followers of his utilitarian philosophy.


Bentham’s plans for his remains became something of an obsession. For 10 years prior to his death, he reportedly carried a pair of glass eyes in his pocket so that embalmers could easily implant them after his death. Unfortunately, when the time came, something went wrong in the preservation process. Bentham’s head took on a mottled, hollow-cheeked look, its leathery skin sagging under a pair of intensely blue glass eyes. In order to create a less grotesque display, preservers created a wax bust of Bentham and screwed it onto the skeleton. They placed the real head between Bentham’s feet.


There it sat, undisturbed, until 1975, when a group of mischievous students kidnapped it and demanded a £100 ransom be donated to charity. The university made a counteroffer of £10, and the students caved, returning Bentham’s head to its rightful place between his legs. After a few more pranks, including one in which the skull was apparently used as a football, university administrators decided to remove the head from public display. It now sits in the Conservation Safe in the Institute of Archaeology and is removed only for special occasions.


On Gower Street, between Grafton Way and University Street, enter the university grounds at Porter’s Lodge. Find the ramp entrance to the South Cloisters, Wilkins Building. Jeremy Bentham is just inside. N 51.524686 W 0.134025
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Seated in a hallway at University College London, the long-dead utilitarian philosopher guards his own head from those who might souvenir it.





Archie the Giant Squid


London


The giant squid is often depicted as a sea monster. In Jules Verne’s 20,000 Leagues Under the Sea, a giant squid attacks a boat and devours one of its crew. The kraken of Norse mythology—an enormous creature whose tentacles could supposedly wrap around the tallest of ship masts and rip whole vessels asunder—likely arose from a combination of giant squid sightings, imagination, and exaggeration.


The deep-sea-dwelling giant squid’s notorious elusiveness only fueled tall tales. Though records show they have been sighted sporadically since the 16th century, it wasn’t until 2002 that photographers were able to capture an image of a live giant squid in its natural habitat—which makes the Natural History Museum’s 28-foot (8.5 m) specimen a rare delight. Caught off the coast of the Falkland Islands in 2004 and named Archie in recognition of its species name, Architeuthis dux, the giant squid is preserved in a custom-made acrylic tank.


Natural History Museum, Cromwell Road, London. Archie is in the Darwin Spirit Collection of the museum, accessible on special guided tours. N 51.495983 W 0.176372
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Caught in 2004 and now kept at the Natural History Museum, Archie the Giant Squid is as long as a school bus.






Highgate Cemetery


London


Opened in 1839, Highgate is one of London’s most famous cemeteries. Its residents include Karl Marx (his memorial recognizable by the glowering bearded bust), sci-fi author Douglas Adams, and Adam Worth, the possible inspiration for Sherlock Holmes’s nemesis, Professor Moriarty. In the Victorian era, anyone who was anyone wanted to be buried in London’s fashionable Highgate Cemetery.


But fashion is fickle. By the 1940s, the Victorian cemetery was in a state of neglect, its once-coveted burial plots covered in vines. In 1970, members of a group interested in the occult claimed to have seen supernatural creatures lurking in the graveyard. Initial reports of ghosts gave way to talk that a vampire—a Transylvanian prince brought to the cemetery in the 1800s—was hiding out in Highgate.


Seán Manchester and David Farrant, self-described magicians and rival monster hunters, vowed to track down and kill the beast. Each proclaimed the other to be a charlatan incapable of finding the vampire. They took their feud to the media—capitalizing on an interest in the occult fueled by the recent release of The Exorcist—and announced an official vampire hunt would take place on Friday the 13th of March, 1970. That night, a mob overpowered police and broke into Highgate wielding stakes, garlic, crosses, and holy water. Chaos ensued. No vampires were sighted.




[image: Images]


Could there be a vampire lurking behind the trees?





Manchester and Farrant continued to visit the cemetery over the next few years, determined to drive a stake into the heart of the Highgate Vampire. Though neither magician ever found the supposed vampire, real graves were ransacked and real corpses staked and beheaded during the search. In 1974, Farrant received a jail sentence for vandalizing memorials and interfering with human remains in the cemetery.


Debate between Farrant and Manchester continues to this day, while the cemetery remains a popular location for occult, paranormal, and vampire enthusiasts.


Swain’s Lane. The cemetery is a 20-minute walk up Highgate Hill and through Waterlow Park. N 51.566927 W 0.147071





Difference Engine #2


London


There was almost a Victorian computer. Charles Babbage came achingly close with his 1822 “Difference Engine,” a design for a hulking gadget with cranks and gears capable of generating mathematical tables.


The machine offered a well-thought-out solution to the problem of human error in complex calculations, but it proved too large, complicated, and expensive to construct. Government grants allowed Babbage to hire a machinist, Joseph Clement, but after 10 years and much quarreling over prices, Clement had built just a small portion of the prototype.


Undeterred by practical constraints and workplace unpleasantness, Babbage moved on to plans for Difference Engine #2. This would be a more streamlined version: 5 tons, 5,000 parts, and 11 feet long (3.4 m). It, too, never progressed to a working model. Babbage died in 1871, leaving reams of notes and sketches for machines that were beyond the era’s construction capabilities.
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Now functional: Charles Babbage’s Victorian computer.





In 1985, more than a century after Babbage’s death, London’s Science Museum announced plans to investigate the feasibility of his designs by building a difference engine based on the blueprints—and 19th-century materials—devised for Engine #2. The construction team finished the calculating section in 1991, just in time to commemorate the 200th anniversary of Babbage’s birth. It functioned flawlessly, confirming Babbage’s rightful place in the annals of computing history.


The engine, which features a printing apparatus added in 2002, is now on display at the museum, along with half of Babbage’s brain. (The other half is housed at the Hunterian Museum, also in London.)


Science Museum, Exhibition Road, London. N 51.498190 W 0.173972


Ireland


Victor’s Way Indian Sculpture Park


Roundwood, Wicklow


Covering 22 acres, this park includes sculptures of an emaciated Buddha, an enormous disembodied finger, and The Split Man, a figure ripping itself in two, representing “the mental state of the dysfunctional human.” Victor Langheld established the park in 1989 after traveling to India in search of spiritual enlightenment. The series of sculptures, carved in stone by craftsmen in the south Indian state of Tamil Nadu, represent spiritual progression, from Awakening (a child emerging from a decaying fist) to The Ferryman’s End (a cadaverous old man in a sinking boat, half-submerged in a lake).


Roundwood. The park is a 45-minute drive from Dublin. It’s open from May through September. Dress for the damp. N 53.085765 W 6.219654
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The emaciated ferryman invites visitors to contemplate mortality at Victor’s Way Sculpture Park.






Ruins of the MV Plassey



Inisheer, Galway


More rust than metal at this point, the creaky shell of the steam trawler MV Plassey has been sitting on a bed of rocks on the shore of Inisheer Island for over half a century.


Early in the morning of March 8, 1960, the cargo ship was transporting yarn, stained glass, and whiskey across the Atlantic when it got caught in a terrible storm. Fierce winds blew the vessel toward Inisheer, tearing a hole in the bottom and causing water to rush into the engine room.


Using a breeches buoy—a rocket-fired rescue device similar to a zip line—islanders managed to save all 11 members of the crew from the icy sea. No sooner had they warmed up and calmed down with a few shots of local whiskey than another storm hit, delivering the MV Plassey to the rocky coast of Inisheer. Locals salvaged wool, lumber, and doors for construction, and made off with a stash of Black & White scotch hidden in the hold.


Today, the bronze-colored wreck, riddled with holes and stripped of all its assets, looks oddly beautiful against the gray rocks, green grass, and blue sky.


The wreck is on the east coast of Inisheer, just south of Killagoola. Ferries from the mainland leave from Doolin. N 53.055816 W 9.503730
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With its flaking hull full of holes, the MV Plassey is slightly less than seaworthy.





Leviathan of Parsonstown


Birr, Offaly


William Parsons, the third earl of Rosse, built this 58-foot (17.7 m) telescope in the 1840s to investigate the space phenomena he knew as “nebulae.” At the time, telescopes were not powerful enough to show that these so-called nebulae were actually an assortment of different objects ranging from star clusters and galaxies to clouds of gas and dust. Parsons’s 6-foot-wide (2 m) telescope lens exposed the solar system in greater detail than ever before—though it was not until the 1920s that Edwin Hubble discovered that some of the fuzzy objects were in fact galaxies.


Dubbed “the Leviathan of Parsonstown,” Parsons’s reflecting telescope remained the largest in the world for over 75 years. However, following the death of the earl of Rosse—and that of his son, who tended to the instrument in his absence—the telescope fell into disuse in 1878 and was dismantled in 1908. Thanks to the seventh and current earl, the telescope was reconstructed in the late 1990s with a new mirror and motors. You can now see the restored Leviathan and learn about its workings in the attached science center.


Birr Castle, Birr. Two hours from Dublin by car and about one hour from Shannon Airport and Galway city. N 53.097123 W 7.913780
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The Leviathan may look like a cannon, but it was made for stargazing.






Irish Sky Garden


SKIBBEREEN, IRELAND


Designed by American James Turrell in 1992, this magical knoll is an unparalleled piece of public art. The enormous grassy crater features a central stone plinth reminiscent of ancient Celtic and Egyptian altars. The plinth rises up at an angle, and a stone footrest on each end allows the viewer to lie down and see up and out toward the edge of the crater above. All that is visible from this vantage point is the green grass and sky, creating a uniquely serene experience that invokes past rituals and ancient rites.


The Sky Garden is set in the natural landscape of the Liss Ard (“High Fort” in Gaelic) estate, which is situated on an ancient Celtic ring fort. So even though the sky garden is a contemporary piece of art with a strikingly postmodern shape and aesthetic, it is the perfect complement to a place that is already a bridge between two worlds.


Liss Ard Estate, Castletownshend Road Skibbereen, County Cork. The garden is open on certain days during May and June. You’ll need to get a key from reception and pay a small entrance fee. N 51.528405 W 9.254247


Skellig Michael


The Skelligs, Kerry


The dozen monks who sequestered themselves on this rocky island in the 7th century were a hardy lot.


Skellig Michael—skellig is derived from the Irish word sceillic, meaning “steep rock”—lies 8 miles (13 km) from the coast of County Kerry. It is beset by wind and rain, which make the ascent to its 714-foot-high (217.6 m) peak extra treacherous.


Despite these harsh conditions, a group of determined Irish Christians established a monastic outpost on the island that remains largely intact 1,400 years later. Using stones, the monks built hundreds of stairs leading up to Skellig Michael’s summit, where they erected six beehive-shaped stone huts and a small chapel. They survived on a diet of fish, seabirds, and vegetables grown in the monastery garden. Withstanding multiple Viking raids during the 9th century, the monks occupied Skellig Michael until the late 12th century, when frequent storms sent them back to the mainland.


Climbing the 670 uneven, steep steps to the top presents both a physical and mental challenge, but at the summit, you’ll be able to enter the monastic huts and imagine the grueling life of a 7th-century ascetic.


Boats leave from Portmagee (a 90-minute trip) from April to September, weather permitting. N 51.772080 W 10.538858
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Beehive-shaped monastic cells, built by medieval monks, top the rocky island of Skellig Michael.







The Crypts at Christ Church Cathedral


Dublin


[image: Images]


In 1030, the Viking rulers of Dublin built the original Christ Church Cathedral out of wood. When the Normans invaded in 1171, they tore the cathedral down and built one of stone, adding an enormous crypt.


Laurence O’Toole, the archbishop of Dublin, oversaw the rebuilding process. After O’Toole was canonized as the patron saint of Dublin in 1225, his heart was preserved in a heart-shaped reliquary and kept in the cathedral inside an iron cage.


The saintly heart remained in an alcove until March 2012, when two men pried open the cage and stole the icon. Six years later the heart was recovered by police and restored to its proper place.


Other fascinating relics worth seeing are a set of stocks made in 1670 that were once used outdoors to punish criminals publicly and a marble monument depicting Nathaniel Sneyd, an Irish politician who died in 1833. Text beside the sculpture states that he “perished by the indiscriminating violence of an unhappy maniac”—in other words, he was shot.


The most unusual objects in the crypt are the mummified cat and rat, whose poses suggest they died mid-chase. According to church lore, the cat pursued the rat into a pipe of the church organ during the 1850s, and both became stuck. James Joyce used both cat and rat as a simile in Finnegan’s Wake when he described someone as being “as stuck as that cat to that mouse in that tube of that christchurch organ.”


Christchurch Place, Dublin. N 53.343517 W 6.271057
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The largest crypt in Ireland is known for its mummified cat and rat, known locally as “Tom & Jerry.”





Also in Ireland


The Calendar Sundial


Galway · A modern sundial uses ancient methods to tell time and date perfectly.


St. Michan’s Mummies


Dublin · Down a set of dimly lit narrow stone steps, a vault underneath the church holds dozens of mummified remains, including an 800-year-old “Crusader” whose finger you are allowed to touch.


Wallabies of Lambay


Lambay Island · Despite being 10,000 miles (16,000 km) from their native Australia, a group of wallabies has made Lambay Island home for the last 25 years after being relocated by the Dublin Zoo.



Northern Ireland


The Vanishing Lake


Ballycastle, Antrim


East of the seaside town of Ballycastle, on the side of the coastal road, is a lake—sometimes. When you get there, it may be gone. But it will come back.


Loughareema, also known as “the vanishing lake,” sits on a bed of porous limestone with a “plug hole” that attracts peat. When enough peat accumulates in the hole, it prevents drainage, causing the water level to rise. When the peat dislodges, the lake empties—sometimes disappearing in a matter of hours.


Loughareema Road (by Ballypatrick Forest), Ballycastle. The lake is a 2-hour bus ride from Belfast. Be prepared for a dry chalk bed, an expansive lake, or anything in between. N 55.157084 W 6.108058
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The vanishing lake of Ballycastle in its unvanished state.





The Giant’s Causeway


Bushmills, Antrim


With its thousands of interlocking hexagonal columns that rise vertically like steps, the Giant’s Causeway is a geological oddity that looks distinctly man-made.


Volcanic activity created the unusual formation near the start of the Paleogene period (23–65 million years ago) when molten basalt came into contact with chalk beds and formed a lava plateau. When the lava cooled quickly, the plateau contracted and cracked, forming 40,000 columns of varying heights that look like giant stepping stones. The largest stand almost 36 feet tall (11 m).


According to legend, an Irish giant by the name of Fionn mac Cumhaill constructed the causeway so he could skip over to Scotland to defeat his Scottish counterpart, Benandonner. While in transit to Scotland, Fionn fell asleep, and Benandonner decided to cross the causeway to look for his competitor. To protect her slumbering husband, Fionn’s wife gathered him up and wrapped him up in cloth to disguise him as a baby. When Benandonner made it to Northern Ireland, he saw the large infant and could only imagine how big Fionn must be. Frightened, Benandonner fled back to Scotland—but the causeway remained.


44 Causeway Road, Bushmills. The causeway is an hour by car from Belfast or 3 hours by bus, which runs along a scenic route. N 55.240807 W 6.511555


Also in Northern Ireland


Skate 56 at the Belfry


Newcastle · A church turned indoor skate park.


Peace Maze


Castlewellan · One of the world’s largest hedge mazes celebrates peace in Northern Ireland.
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The hexagonal basalt columns of the Giant’s Causeway are the stuff of Celtic legend.






scotland


Fingal’s Cave


Oban, Argyll and Bute


Like something out of an epic fantasy novel, Scotland’s Fingal’s Cave is a 270-foot-deep, 72-foot-tall (82 × 22 m) sea cave with walls of perfectly hexagonal columns. Celtic legends held that the cave was once part of a bridge across the sea, built by giants to fight one another. Science says it was formed by enormous masses of lava that cooled so slowly that they broke into long hexagonal pillars, like mud cracking under the hot sun.


When naturalist Sir Joseph Banks rediscovered the cave in 1772, it quickly captured people’s imagination and inspired the work of artists, writers, and musicians. Composer Felix Mendelssohn wrote an overture about the cave in 1830, the same year painter J. M. W. Turner depicted it on canvas. Thus was born a Romantic-era tourist site that is just as entrancing today.


Get a train from Glasgow to Oban, where you can take a ferry to Craignure, located on the Isle of Mull. A bus will take you to Fionnphort for a boat tour to Staffa. N 56.433889 W 6.336111
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The cave’s contours have provided artistic inspiration for everyone from Jules Verne to Pink Floyd.





Also in Scotland


The Ruins of St. Peter’s


Cardross · This hulking skeleton of a modernist seminary was completed in 1966 and abandoned in the 1980s.


Yester Castle


Gifford, East Lothian · A castle that opens into a subterranean vaulted “goblin hall” from the 13th century.


The Dunmore Pineapple


Dunmore Park · This house with a top shaped like a giant pineapple, a symbol of hospitality and affluence, was built in the late 1700s and is now available as a vacation rental.


Dog Cemetery at Edinburgh Castle


Edinburgh · The final resting place of mascots and Scottish guards’ loyal canine companions.


Greyfriars Cemetery Mortsafes


Edinburgh · Cages built over 19th-century burial sites to protect the dead from being disinterred by opportunistic body snatchers.


Holyrood Abbey Ruins


Edinburgh · A ruined 11th-century abbey built by King David I.


Britannia Panopticon Music Hall


Glasgow · The world’s oldest surviving music hall.


Cultybraggan Camp


Perth · Built to hold the worst of the worst of Nazi war criminals.


Scotland’s Secret Bunker


St. Andrews · A bunker that was built to shelter the politicians and “essential” people of Scotland in the event of nuclear attack.




Garden of Cosmic Speculation


Holywood, Dumfries and Galloway


Among the daffodils and daisies of the Garden of Cosmic Speculation are black holes, Fibonacci sequences, fractals, and DNA double helixes.


Architectural theorist Charles Jencks and his late wife, Maggie Keswick, designed the 30-acre garden for their own property. Its aesthetic is guided by the fundamentals of modern physics, reflecting the shapes and patterns of the unfolding universe. Begun in 1988, the garden took almost 20 years to build, during which time Keswick succumbed to cancer. Jencks continued the project in her memory, occasionally altering designs in response to shifts and breakthroughs in scientific knowledge. (The Human Genome Project inspired the DNA Garden section, with its plant-threaded double helix.)


Holywood, 5 miles (8 km) north of Dumfries. The garden is open to the public one day a year, during the first week of May. Managed by the Scotland’s Gardens Scheme, the yearly event helps raise money for Maggie’s Centers, a cancer foundation named after Jencks’s late wife. N 55.129780 W 3.665830
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Within these gardens are the keys to life and the universe.
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Greece and Cyprus
Portugal and Spain




Austria


Republic of Kugelmugel


Vienna


The Republic of Kugelmugel is one of many “micronations.” These independent states, often established as art projects, social experiments, or simply for personal amusement, are not recognized by international governments.


When creative urges compelled artist Edwin Lipburger and his son to build a spherical studio on their farm in 1970, they didn’t realize that local laws prohibited the building of spherical structures. In an attempt to protect their creation from demolition, the Lipburgers created their own Kugelmugel township, complete with self-made street signs around the building. Later, as the legal dispute escalated, Edwin Lipburger attempted to declare the structure its own federal state—the Republic of Kugelmugel—even going as far as to issue his own stamps and currency and refusing to pay taxes. The elder Lipburger was eventually sent to jail for 10 weeks in 1979 (he was later pardoned by the Austrian president).


In the early 1980s, Austria’s culture minister suggested Kugelmugel be moved to the Vienna Prater amusement park. The Lipburgers went along with the idea, having been promised access to tap water, electricity, and sewers. But these facilities were never provided, which resulted in an ongoing dispute with the city of Vienna.
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The micronation of Kugelmugel was founded to protect an artist’s space from demolition.





Edwin Lipburger died in 2015 and his son took over the presidency. The building now serves as an art gallery and is open for special exhibitions and performances. A proud “micronation,” it counts about 600 people as citizens, though not all citizens can fit in the space at once.


2 Antifaschismusplatz, Vienna. Get a bus to Venediger Au. Kugelmugel is located in Vienna’s famous Prater park, depicted in Carol Reed’s classic film The Third Man, and is found at the western edge of the park in the shadow of a roller coaster. N 48.216234 E 16.396221   [image: Images]
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The interior of this spherical state houses a museum on the history of the micronation.







[image: Images]  Other Micronations


[image: Images]





1 Nimis, Ladonia


Nimis, a mountainous, multi-towered sculpture made of 70 tons of driftwood planks, is the main attraction of the micronation of Ladonia. It is also the only reason Ladonia exists at all. The ersatz country—two-thirds of a square mile (1.7 square km) in size, located on a Swedish peninsula protruding into the Kattegat—was established in 1996 following a long court battle between artist Lars Vilks and the Swedish government. Vilks began building Nimis in secret in 1980. Far from civilization and only fully visible from the water, it went unnoticed by Swedish authorities for two years until they discovered it and declared it would have to be destroyed. (The land is part of a nature reserve, where it is forbidden to build structures.) Goaded, Vilks ignored the announcement, sold Nimis to the artist Cristo, built a similarly sized stone-and-concrete sculpture called Arx, and decided to take control of the area and secede from Sweden. The nation of Ladonia was born.
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Today, Ladonia claims over 15,000 citizens, all of whom reside outside its borders in accordance with the nation’s nomadic lifestyle policy. Citizenship is free and requires an online application, but if you would like to become part of Ladonia’s nobility, you will need to pay $12 and send an email informing the administrators of your preferred title.





The Ladonian flag is green, with a faint white outline of the Nordic cross—a design chosen because it is what the blue-and-yellow Swedish flag would look like if it was boiled. Taxes are payable, but money is not accepted. Instead, citizens must contribute some of their creativity. The citizenship application process caused confusion among 3,000 Pakistanis who applied for immigrant status with the intent to live in Ladonia, only to be told it was not possible to move there.


Though residing in Ladonia is prohibited, visiting is not.
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The micronation of Ladonia is known for its artisanal wooden towers.





2 The Principality of Sealand


Sealand came into being in 1967, when Roy Bates commandeered a former military sea fort off the east coast of England with plans to broadcast a pirate radio station. When members of the British Royal Marines approached the fort, Roy’s 14-year-old son Michael fired warning shots at their boat. The Bates duo appeared in court on firearms charges, where the judge ruled the case invalid due to the army fort being outside British jurisdiction. The father and son returned to Sealand, where Roy dubbed himself prince of the fledgling micronation.


In 1978, Bates the elder and his wife were in England when Alexander Achenbach, self-described prime minister of Sealand, assembled a team to storm the fort by air and sea to attempt a coup. He captured the prince Michael Bates and held him hostage, only for Roy to return later—with armed assistants, in a helicopter piloted by a former James Bond–franchise stuntman—and capture Achenbach and his crew. Roy charged Achenbach with treason, keeping him captive for several weeks until Germany sent a diplomat to Sealand to negotiate Achenbach’s release. Achenbach has since established a remote rebel government in exile: a micro-micronation.
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3 Principality of Hutt River


When the Australian government imposed a restrictive wheat crop production quota in late 1969, wheat farmer Leonard Casley was infuriated. With fields full of wheat waiting to be harvested and nowhere to send the sizable yield, he fought to change the government’s new agricultural policy. The government was unmoved. Casley then took the next logical step: secession.


The Principality of Hutt River was founded in April 1970, when Casley informed authorities that he and his family would no longer be under Australia’s jurisdiction. His one-page letter name-checked the Magna Carta, English common law, the Atlantic Treaty, and the Charter of the United Nations.


During the 1970s, relations between Hutt River and Western Australia were strained. The national postal service refused to deliver to the area, and the Australian Tax Office repeatedly demanded the Casleys pay taxes, prompting the self-proclaimed Prince Leonard I to declare war on Australia in 1977. A few days later, the prince sent official notification that the war was over. There were no deaths, no injuries, and no acknowledgment from Australia that the conflict ever existed.
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4 The Conch Republic


“We seceded where others failed” is the motto of this micronation in Key West, Florida, formed in 1982 in response to a new border patrol checkpoint that inconvenienced residents and slowed tourism. Soon after seceding, the Conch Republic engaged in a one-minute war with the United States, during which newly proclaimed Prime Minister Dennis Wardlow thwacked a man in a naval uniform on the head with a stale loaf of bread. The PM then surrendered and immediately sought a billion dollars in foreign aid from the US. He has yet to receive it.


Although Conch Republic passports are not valid for international travel, the micronation’s website claims a Conch citizen traveling in Guatemala avoided certain death by showing his Conch passport to armed revolutionaries instead of his American one. Supposedly, the rebels dropped their weapons and treated the visitor to several rounds of tequila.
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Conch Republic passports are not valid for international travel.
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5 Republic of Minerva


Las Vegas real estate mogul Michael Oliver dreamed of an island utopia: a tax-free, welfare-free, government-intervention-free haven for 30,000 people, supported by fishing, tourism, and other “unspecified activities.”


Oliver targeted two unclaimed submerged atolls south of Fiji and Tonga as the location for the new state. International law states that islands can only be claimed if they are a foot (.3 m) above the high tide point. The atolls became submerged at high tide, therefore no one owned them. In 1971, Oliver shipped in barges of sand, dumped them on the reefs, and staked his claim, naming it the Republic of Minerva.


This bold colonization soon caught the attention of Tongan king Taufa’ahau Tupou IV, who set sail for Minerva accompanied by nobles, cabinet ministers, soldiers, police, and a brass band. Upon arrival, the motley crew tore down the Minervan flag and claimed the land in the name of Tonga.
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Esperanto Museum


Vienna


When Ludwig Lazarus Zamenhof invented the Esperanto language in the 1870s, his goal was to ease communication between people of different nationalities. Esperanto, a hybrid of Romance, Germanic, and Slavic languages, is documented and studied at this museum, along with around 500 other constructed languages, or “conlangs.”


On display is an impressive array of Esperanto objects: sodas and toothpaste containers with Esperanto labels; novels written in Esperanto; language manuals; and 19th-century photographs of “planned-language” pioneers. At its peak, Esperanto had as many as two million speakers. Esperanto ranks among the top 200 most-spoken languages out of over 6,000 left on the planet. There are estimated to be a thousand native Esperanto speakers, who learned the language as children; among them is the American financier George Soros.




If the museum piques your interest in learning Esperanto, take note that becoming conversant in the language entitles you to join the Esperantist passport service, a worldwide directory of people willing to host Esperanto speakers in their homes free of charge.


Herrengasse 9, Vienna. Take the U-Bahn to Herrengasse. N 48.209474 E 16.365771   [image: Images]
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On the eve of WWI, Esperantists still dreamed of uniting the world behind a common language.





[image: Images]  How to Say “Crazy” in Toki Pona


More than 900 constructed languages have been invented since the 13th century. Some, like Esperanto and Volapük, were created with the ambitious goal of becoming a universal lingua franca. Others are meant to test the contentious Sapir-Whorf hypothesis, which holds that a person’s worldview is shaped by the vocabulary and syntax available in his or her language.




[image: Images]


Kala
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Kasi





Toki Pona, created by Canadian linguist Sonja Elen Kisa in 2001, is a language for minimalists. Consisting of just 123 words, the language is meant to reflect a Zen outlook on life. Toki Pona combines simple words to create complex ones—such as joining the words for “crazy” and “water” to create the word for “alcohol.” The language’s two main features—a restricted vocabulary and the linking of root words—also occur in Newspeak, the fictional language used in George Orwell’s dystopian novel 1984.


Láadan is American science-fiction writer Suzette Haden Elgin’s experimental answer to the feminist hypothesis that existing languages are inadequate for conveying the breadth of female experience. The language, created in 1982, includes words like radiidin, defined as “a time [that is] allegedly a holiday but actually so much a burden because of work and preparations that it is a dreaded occasion; especially when there are too many guests and none of them help.”


French author and musician François Sudre began working on Solresol in the 1820s. The language is based on the seven syllables that correspond to sounds on a musical scale: do, re, mi, fa, sol, la, and si. Every word is composed of one or more of those sounds—for example, si means “yes” while dofalado means “sincerity.” There are 2,668 words in all.
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Sentences in Solresol can be performed on a violin, spoken as a series of numbers, or communicated using the colors of the rainbow.


Since the base sounds correspond to musical notes, Solresol messages can be communicated through musical instruments. Each of the seven base sounds also corresponds to a color of the rainbow. In his 1902 book on Solresol grammar, Boleslas Gajewski suggested messages be relayed “at night, by shooting rockets of each of the seven colors . . . always separating every syllable as needed, then pausing briefly between every word.”




Trick Fountains of Hellbrunn Palace


Salzburg


The Prince-Archbishop Markus Sittikus von Hohenems was quite the prankster. When building Hellbrunn Palace, his summer home, the 17th-century Salzburg monarch booby-trapped its gardens with trick fountains that would spray unsuspecting guests as they toured the grounds. At each spot was a patch that remained dry—that is where the prince would stand while his visitors got soaked.


Nearly 400 years later, the palace remains almost completely unchanged, except for the 1750 addition of the mechanical theater, a water-powered diorama of a Baroque town with 200 miniature townspeople moving to organ music.


Fürstenweg 37, Salzburg. Hellbrunn is open from April to early November. Dress appropriately—you will get wet. N 47.763132 E 13.061121
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Listen for the archbishop ghost’s cackling on the wind as water bursts from his old prank fountains.





Also in Austria


Eggenburg Charnel


Eggenburg · Artfully arranged skeletons sit at the bottom of this 14th-century pit.


Fucking, Austria


Fucking · American soldiers discovered Europe’s best one-liner at the end of World War II. Since then, the Fuckingers, as residents of the town are called, have had to deal with hordes of visitors posing in front of their street signs.


House of Artists


Gugging · In this home for the mentally ill, the walls are open canvases for patients to paint their frustrations, fears, and hopes.


Franz Gsellmann’s Weltmaschine


Kam · This behemoth of whirring, spinning, turning parts includes toy gondolas, a xylophone, miniature windmills, a spaceship, and an oxygen tank—created by an untrained farmer.


Minimundus


Klagenfurt · A park filled with famous buildings from around the world built on a 1:25 scale.


Kremsmunster Observatory


Kremsmunster · Founded as a monastery in the 8th century and upgraded to a five-story “mathematical tower” in the 1750s, this weather observatory has been operational for over 250 years.


Dom Museum’s Kunst und Wunderkammer


Salzburg · This lovingly re-created and restored collection of curiosities once belonged to the Archbishop Wolf Dietrich.


Starkenberger Beer Resort


Starkenberg · Lager lovers can literally immerse themselves in one of seven 13-foot (4 m) pools of warm beer, each containing some 42,000 pints. Cold beer is provided for drinking.



World of the Ice Giants


Werfen, Salzburg


At 26 miles (42 km) long, Eisriesenwelt, or “World of the Ice Giants,” is the largest ice cave in the world. It is filled with naturally formed sheets of dripping, curving ice, the result of melting snow from the surface flowing into the cave through cracks and crevices and solidifying when it meets the freezing temperatures. Bright magnesium lights illuminate the ice formations, making the scene even more dramatic.


Getreidegasse 21, Werfen. Eisriesenwelt is 25 miles (40.3 km) south of Salzburg. The cave is open to visitors from May to October. Bring warm clothing; the caves are below freezing, even in summer. N 47.50778 E 13.189722
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Handheld lamps illuminate the dripping formations in the world’s largest ice cave.





Belgium


Tower of Eben-Ezer


Bassenge, Liège


This seven-story stone tower—topped with a bull, a lion, an eagle, and a sphinx—looks medieval, but harks from a more recent time. Beginning in 1951, Robert Garcet spent over a decade building the Tower of Eben-Ezer by hand, as a totem to peace and the pursuit of knowledge.


A devotee of the Bible, numerology, and ancient civilizations, Garcet used symbolic dimensions when designing the building. The tower is 33 meters tall (to represent Jesus’s age when he died) and topped with a quartet of statues (matching the four horsemen of the apocalypse). Each floor measures 12 by 12 meters—12 being the number of Jesus’s disciples.


The interior walls are filled with Garcet’s artwork, which depicts scenes from the apocalypse, biblical quotes, and Cretaceous dinosaurs. Climb the spiral staircase to the rooftop and you’ll emerge from under a winged lion to see panoramic views of the Belgian countryside.


4690 Eben-Emael, Bassenge. A train from Brussels takes about 2 hours. N 50.793317 E 5.665638
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The hand-built turreted Eben-Ezer Tower was inspired by the Bible and ancient civilizations.






The Mundaneum


Mons, Hainaut


The Mundaneum was, to put it mildly, an ambitious undertaking. Belgian lawyer Paul Otlet and Nobel Peace Prize winner Henri LaFontaine established the project in 1910 with the aim of compiling the entirety of human knowledge on 3 × 5-inch index cards. The collection was to be the centerpiece of a “world city” designed by architect Le Corbusier, forming a nucleus of knowledge that would inspire the world with its libraries, museums, and universities.


To address the daunting task of arranging bits of paper into a coherent compendium of world history, Otlet developed a system called Universal Decimal Classification. Over the next few decades, a growing staff created and catalogued over 12 million cards summarizing the contents of books and periodicals. Having assembled this wealth of knowledge, Otlet began offering a fee-based research service. Queries came in by mail and telegraph from around the globe at the rate of 1,500 per year.


With the paper-based system becoming cumbersome by 1934, Otlet hoped to move on to another system: a mechanical data cache accessible via a global network of what he termed “electric telescopes.” To his dismay, the Belgian government had little enthusiasm for the idea. With World War II looming and priorities elsewhere, the Mundaneum moved to a smaller site, eventually ceasing operations after years of financial instability. The final blow came during the Nazi invasion of Belgium, when soldiers destroyed thousands of boxes filled with index cards and hung Third Reich artwork on the walls.


Otlet died in 1944, his Mundaneum and world city mere memories. He is now regarded as one of the forefathers of information science—his vision of a globally searchable network of interlinked documents anticipated the World Wide Web.


The remains of the Mundaneum—books, posters, planning documents, and drawers with original index cards—are now on display at the Musée Mundaneum in Mons.


76, rue de Nimy, Mons. The Mundaneum is a 15-minute walk from the Mons train station. N 50.457674 E 3.955428
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The Mundaneum, with its 12 million info-packed index cards, was the early-20th-century version of the internet.






The Grottoes of Folx-les-Caves


Orp-Jauche, Walloon Brabant


[image: Images]


Down a narrow staircase, 50 feet below the small town of Folx-les-Caves, are nearly 15 acres of human-made caves. Carved from tuff, or compressed volcanic ash, they were probably dug during the Roman era or the Middle Ages. In 1886, farmers began growing mushrooms in the cold, dark grottoes—the fungi grow there to this day.


Prior to the mushroom era, the cave served as a refuge for bandits on the lam. Words and names chiseled into the stone—graffiti from a pre–spray can age—provide evidence of its past inhabitants. One of the most famous was Pierre Colon, an 18th-century thief who robbed passing merchants and shared his spoils with the poor. Colon was sent to jail, but escaped after his wife pulled the now-cliché move of sneaking him a metal file inside a cake. The legend of Colon is celebrated at Folx-les-Caves every year in early October with a festival of music, dance, and food.


35, rue Auguste Baccus, Orp-Jauche. Orp-Jauche is about an hour east of Brussels. N 50.669216 E 4.941959


Also in Belgium


Caves of Remouchamps


Aywaille · Take a 90-minute boat ride along the world’s longest subterranean river. If you’re lucky, you’ll spot a translucent shrimp.


Plantin-Moretus Museum of Printing


Antwerp · A 16th-century publishing house–cum-museum features two of the oldest printing presses, a Gutenberg Bible, and the world’s only copy of the original Garamond punches and matrices.


The Atomium


Brussels · Enjoy the view from the top of an iron crystal structure magnified to 165 billion times its size, built for the 1958 Brussels World’s Fair.


The Musical Instrument Museum


Brussels · A three-floor wonderland displays over 1,500 instruments of all shapes and sizes. Check out the componium, the first automatic instrument capable of improvisation.


Dr. Guislain Museum


Ghent · Housed within an operating mental institution, this museum mixes art and education in its mission to educate the public about psychiatric care.


France


Hollow at La Meauffe


La Meauffe, Normandy


Holloways, which appear like deep trenches dragged into the earth, are centuries-old thoroughfares worn down by the traffic of time. In Europe, most of these sunken lanes go back to Roman times, or as early as the Iron Age.


These deep-recessed roads were naturally tunneled into the soft ground by years of footsteps, cart wheels, and animal hooves. Water flowing through the embankments like a gully further molded the paths into rounded ditches that have sunk as much as 20 feet lower than the land on either side. In some cases, trees rise up from the banks flanking the narrow path and reach toward each other to form a canopy over the road, making the holloway look like a tunnel running through the thick greenery.


Holloways are especially common in the bocage, or “hedgerow,” landscape around Normandy, where the countryside is divided into small fields enclosed by sunken lanes and high hedges. Like many sunken roads, the trench-like holloway in La Meauffe was used as a shelter during times of war. During World War II, the La Meauffe hollow was a defensive strongpoint for the German army, providing perfect cover from the advancing American troops. The limited visibility of the terrain caused the Americans to suffer heavy losses during the attack, leading US soldiers to call the road in La Meauffe “Death Valley Road.”


The holloway in La Meauffe is located off the main road on the southern edge of town. N 49.174619 W 1.112959
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Many who walk through holloways don’t realize they are retracing ancient steps.






Oradour-sur-Glane


Oradour-sur-Glane, Limousin


The village of Oradour-sur-Glane has stood in ruins since 1944. Among the scorched, crumbling buildings are the possessions of people who lived here over 70 years ago: burned shells of cars; sewing machines; bed frames; the skeleton of a stroller. All sit quietly, at the mercy of nothing but weather and time.


On June 10, 1944, in response to suspected Resistance activity in the region, the Nazi SS stormed Oradour-sur-Glane and ordered every resident to assemble in the village square. The unit then led the men to barns and sheds, where they had set up machine guns. They locked the women and children in the church, and set the building on fire. Anyone who tried to escape through a window was met with a hail of gunfire.




Within hours, the Waffen-SS had murdered 642 residents of Oradour-sur-Glane. Satisfied, they left, but not before torching every structure in the village.


When World War II ended, French president Charles de Gaulle declared that while a new Oradour-sur-Glane would be built next to the original, the old one must be kept in ruins as a reminder of the atrocities of war. Apart from the addition of signs, plaques, and a museum, the ghost village is untouched. A sign above the entrance reads Souviens-Toi: “Remember.”


Oradour-sur-Glane is a 30-minute drive west of Limoges. On June 10, wreaths are laid in the village’s ruined church to mark the anniversary of the attack. N 45.931233 E 1.035125
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The burned-out remains of a village left untouched for 70 years.





The Chappe Optical Telegraph


Saverne, Bas-Rhin


Messages needed to travel swiftly across the country during the French Revolution, and Claude Chappe’s optical telegraph was just the device for the job.


In 1791, Chappe debuted his chain of stone towers—topped with 10-foot (3 m) poles and 14-foot (4.3 m) pivoting crossbeams, and spaced as far apart as the eye could see—on the Champs-Élysées. He also created a language of 9,999 words, each represented by a different position of the swinging arms. When operated by well-trained optical telegraphers, the system allowed messages to be transmitted up to 150 miles (241.4 km) in two minutes.


The French military saw the value of Chappe’s invention and built lines of his towers from Paris to Dunkirk and Strasbourg. Within a decade, a network of optical telegraph lines crisscrossed the nation. When Napoleon seized power in 1799, he used the optical telegraph to dispatch the message “Paris is quiet and the good citizens are content.”


Renovated in 1998, the optical telegraph next to the Rohan Castle in Saverne functioned as part of the Strasbourg line from 1798 until 1852. It is one of several remaining relay points in the system that can still be visited today.


Rohan Castle, place du Général de Gaulle, Saverne. The castle is a 5-minute walk from the Saverne train station. N 48.742222 E 7.363333
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A key to the letter and number positions in the Chappe signaling system.







The Rotting Body of René de Chalon


Bar-le-Duc, Lorraine


Saint-Étienne church, in the city of Bar-le-Duc, is home to a statue of a rotting corpse. Visible musculature and skin hang in flaps over the hollow carcass. The exposed skull looks toward a raised left hand, which once held the dried heart of René de Chalon, the 16th-century prince the statue depicts. (The heart is believed to have gone missing sometime around the French Revolution.)


The life-size sculpture by Ligier Richier is part of the “transi” Renaissance art form—stone sculptures of rotting bodies that served as a reminder of temporary flesh and eternal afterlife.


Saint-Étienne church, place Saint-Pierre, Bar-le-Duc. The train ride from Paris to Bar-le-Duc takes two and a half hours. N 48.768206 E 5.159390
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The postmortem statue of René de Chalon once held the man’s own dried heart.







The Astronomical Clock of Besançon Cathedral


Besançon, Franche-Comté


Besançon Cathedral, located in the center of France’s 19th-century clock-making capital, is home to a 19-foot-tall (5.8 m) clock with 30,000 pieces. It is one of the most complicated horological devices ever made. Installed in 1860, the clock shows the local time in 17 places around the world, as well as the time and height of the tides in eight French ports, a perpetual calendar with leap-year cycles, and the times of sunrise and sunset.


Besançon Cathedral, rue du Chapitre, Besançon. The cathedral is a leisurely stroll from the main train station. N 47.237829 E 6.024054




[image: Images]


The many dials of what may be the most complicated horological device ever constructed.





Also in France


The Chapel Oak


Allouville-Bellefosse · A tiny chapel built inside the trunk of the oldest known tree in France.


Mechanical Dragon Clock


Blois · A huge golden mechanical dragon emerges from a villa at regular intervals like a cuckoo clock—a homage to magician and automaton creator Jean Eugène Robert-Houdin.


La Maison Picassiette


Chartres · A home covered top to bottom in mosaics, made by a frustrated grave sweeper.


Douaumont Ossuary


Douaumont · The remains of nearly 130,000 soldiers fill this World War I memorial.


Secret Passages of Mont Sainte-Odile


Ottrott · An ancient fortified monastery contains hidden passages and has a history of mysterious book thefts.


Collégiale de Saint-Bonnet-le-Château


Saint-Bonnet-le-Château · Thirty mummified bodies, believed to be Catholic nobles killed by a Protestant leader in 1562, were rediscovered in 1837, when one of the vaults of this church was opened.



Musée de la Chasse et de la Nature


Paris


Housed in the 17th-century Hôtel de Guénégaud, the Museum of Hunting and Nature displays stuffed animals, the decorated vintage weapons that killed them, and artwork depicting the chase.


One room features a large wooden cabinet dedicated to a variety of hunted animals. Concealed in the cabinet drawers are bronze casts of each animal’s footprints and droppings, depictions of its natural habitat, and a poem dedicated to the creature. A room on the second floor has a ceiling entirely covered in the feathers and heads of five owls.


In the dramatic room packed with taxidermy specimens from around the world, look out for one item that’s not like the others: a wall-mounted, animatronic moving albino boar head that speaks perfect French. 62, rue des Archives, Paris. Take the Métro to Rambuteau. N 48.857127 E 2.354125
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Graffiti, moss, and abandoned train tracks form a loop around Paris’s outer arrondissements.





The Petite Ceinture


Paris


The “little belt” railway ringing central Paris served urban travelers from 1862 to 1934, connecting five main stations owned by five different rail companies. The 20th-century expansion of Paris and the Métro eventually made the circular railway obsolete.


Stretches of the track now exhibit a quirky blend of idyllic nature and gritty urban life—plants and flowers grow between the rails against a backdrop of vivid graffiti and street art. Bridges, tunnels, and the original tracks remain mostly untouched, hidden just beyond the streets and neighborhoods of the outer arrondissements.


The Petite Ceinture is still owned by SNCF, France’s national railway company, so a walk along the rails is considered trespassing. That said, an innocent bit of urban exploration is unlikely to land you in trouble. If you’re strictly by the book, visit the section between the Porte d’Auteuil and the Gare de la Muette—in 2008, the area was classified as a nature trail open to pedestrians.


There are multiple points of entry to the Petite Ceinture. For the most scenic walks, access the track from the Balard, Porte de Vincennes, Porte Dorée, or Buttes Chaumont Métro stop. N 48.821375 E 2.342287



Ruins of le Jardin d’Agronomie Tropicale


Paris
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In 1907, as part of the city’s Colonial Exposition, a set of pavilions and artificial villages went on display on the edge of the Bois de Vincennes. Each pavilion exhibited indigenous food, plants, products, and resources from colonies of the French empire. Each village mimicked its Asian or African original. Visitors didn’t even need to imagine the actual people who lived in these far-off lands—as with the plants, Paris imported them and put them on display.


Throughout the summer, Indochinese, Malagasy, Congolese, Sudanese, and Tuareg people lived in re-created “typical” environments in the park. They wore costumes, sang, and danced for curious audiences. French visitors swarmed to the garden to observe the human zoo.


When cooler weather set in, the residents returned to their homes in the colonies, and the site began to decay. The land, owned by the French state, remained closed to the public until the city of Paris purchased it and reopened the site in 2007.


The five villages are still there, but the buildings—today fenced off from visitors—have almost completely collapsed. Most have trees and other vegetation growing from within. The plants inside the greenhouses have been left to rot. A few key pieces of architecture, such as a Chinese gate, are the only hints of the garden’s former role as a tribute to the “glories” of colonial expansion.


45, avenue de la Belle-Gabrielle, Paris. The garden is a 10-minute walk from the Nogent-sur-Marne train station. N 48.841007 E 2.465697   [image: Images]


[image: Images]  Humans on Display


Visitors to New York’s Bronx Zoo in September 1906 were surprised to see a new mammal on display at the Monkey House. Imported from the Belgian Congo, he stood just under 5 feet (1.5 m), weighed 103 pounds (46.7 kg), and went by the name Ota Benga. Crowds jostled to watch him bare his sharp teeth and play with his cagemates: a parrot and an orangutan. The zoo had never displayed a member of his species before; Ota Benga was a human being.


The public exhibition of people was once a way for the world’s colonizers to show off the “exotic” inhabitants of the countries they owned. Plucked from their homes like living souvenirs, indigenous people performed a counterfeit version of their daily lives at world’s fairs, carnivals, and, most outlandishly, in zoos.


The producers of these shows showed little regard for the indigenous culture of the performers, preferring to create a version that would shock, amaze, and sell tickets. In 1882, Canadian theater agent Robert Cunningham visited Australia to recruit for a P. T. Barnum tour of “savage tribes.” Cunningham selected nine Aboriginal men and women from seven separate communities. Each community spoke a different traditional language, and only two of the nine spoke English.


Promotional posters described the performers as “tattooed cannibal black trackers and boomerang throwers.” They danced, sang, and engaged in mock fights at exhibitions across America and Europe. Within two years, five of the nine were dead.


The case of Saartjie Baartman is a particularly unsettling example of 19th-century Europe’s fascination with so-called primitives. In 1810, the young Khoisan woman was living in South Africa when William Dunlop, a visiting British doctor, persuaded Baartman to accompany him to London. There, he exhibited her naked in a cage, demanding she walk, sit, or stand so that onlookers could get a better view of her large buttocks and genitalia. Anthropologists used her physical proportions as evidence that the white race ranked highest. Known as the Hottentot Venus, Baartman died at the age of 26.


As for Ota Benga, a flurry of complaints, particularly from African American ministers, brought about his release from the zoo. Freedom from the animal cage, however, did not mean happiness. After a stay at an orphanage, Benga had his teeth capped, went to school, and was working at a tobacco factory when World War I destroyed his dreams of returning to the Congo. Miserable at the thought of never going home, Benga chipped the caps off his teeth and fatally shot himself. He was 32.
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Ota Benga






Deyrolle Taxidermy


Paris


Exotic taxidermy, entomology, and natural history collections displayed in antique wooden cases and glass bell jars have made this store a destination for Parisians ever since it opened in 1881.


In 2007, many of the animals were reduced to blackened fragments after a fire tore through the store. With the help of artists and collectors worldwide, the shop is back in business, and today houses everything from stuffed house cats to polar bears among its 19th-century decor. Though some of the more exotic animals are not for sale, you can always borrow a lion for a party—almost everything in the store is available for rent.


46, rue du Bac, Paris. Take the Métro to rue du Bac. N 48.856444 E 2.326564
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A motionless menagerie with representatives from every corner of the animal kingdom.









City Guide: More to Explore in Paris


Argonaute Submarine


19th Arr. • It was the dawn of the Space Age, but in 1958 the pride of the French military was one of the most modern submarines of any fleet, silently cruising the briny dark.


The “I Love You” Wall


Clignancourt • Covered in 612 cobalt-blue lava tiles and sprinkled with the red of a few broken hearts, this Montmartre wall expresses love via 250 languages.


Le Louxor Palais du Cinéma


10th Arr. • This stylish Egyptian Revival theater, inspired by Theda Bara’s 1917 Cleopatra, is perhaps the oldest surviving movie palace in Paris, abandoned for decades and restored in 2013 to its former glory.


Parc Monceau


L’Europe • The ruins of the Duke of Chartres’s 18th-century bucolic fantasy, where camels once roamed alongside faux Dutch windmills and Italianate vineyards, lend the landscape of this scruffy royal folly an airy charm.


UCJG and the World’s Oldest Basketball Court


9th Arr. • Most weekend b-ballers who bang the backboards in the basement of this UCJG youth hostel (the French YMCA) have no idea that they are playing on the oldest basketball court in the world. Built in 1892, it is an almost exact copy of the Springfield, Massachusetts, court (long gone), where the game was invented.


Museum of Vampires and Legendary Creatures


Les Lilas • An eccentric scholar of the undead, and a rabid collector of their trappings, has assembled this macabre collection that includes Dracula toys, a vampire-killing kit, and a merry clutter of vampiric books, art, and literature.
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A Parisian guide to the language of love.


Museum of Arts and Crafts


3rd Arr. • One of the world’s great collections of mechanical instruments was founded by anti-cleric French revolutionaries, so it is no small irony that these engineering wonders and contraptions are now partly housed in the former abbey church of Saint Martin des Champs.


Medici Column


Les Halles • Standing extra tall yet supporting nothing, the nine-story Medici Column in front of the Paris Commodities Exchange hides a secret spiral staircase that runs to a viewing platform at the top, originally built so Catherine de Medici’s personal astrologer could contemplate the stars.


The Duluc Detective Agency


Les Halles • Noirish green neon marks the location of one of France’s oldest private detective agencies, a favorite spot for film directors and fans of gumshoe novels alike, with a Prussian-blue door and an engraved plain brass plaque that reads: duluc. investigations. 1st floor.


The Relic Crypt of St. Helena at Église Saint-Leu-Saint-Gilles


Les Halles • Forgotten by most Parisian Catholics but venerated by the Russian Orthodox community, this little-known reliquary holds stolen pieces of Constantine’s mother, who helped spread Christianity throughout the Roman Empire in the 4th century, even as most of her body still rests in Rome.


House of Nicolas Flamel


Le Marais • This former home of the legendary 15th-century alchemist dates to 1407, making it the oldest stone house in Paris. Covered in strange and arcane symbols of magical transformation, it may hold the secret of turning tin into gold.


Paris Sewer Museum


Rive Gauche • What Victor Hugo described as “fetid, wild, fierce” has been a tourist destination since 1889, when the tangled labyrinth under the streets of Paris was first opened to the public to show off a marvel of French engineering.


Gustave Eiffel’s Secret Apartment


Faubourg St-Germain • At the top of the city’s iconic tower is a jewel box of an apartment built by Eiffel to entertain the elite science community of Paris—and to make everyone else jealous.


Bird Market


Île de la Cité • Every Sunday, when most of the flower vendors take their one day off, stacks of cages fill the market square on Île de la Cité near Notre-Dame, with pets and livestock of the chirping, squeaking, and flapping varieties.


Chapelle de Saint Vincent de Paul


7th Arr. • Behind the stark facade of a chapel near the Luxembourg Gardens at the top of a carved double staircase guarded by marble statuary, the robed bones and waxy remains of the 18th-century Saint Vincent de Paul rest in a glass-fronted solid silver reliquary, looking like he was just caught napping.


Arènes de Lutèce


St. Victor • Paris is the city of Notre-Dame, of Hemingway and Harry’s Bar, of la Belle Époque and Marie Antoinette, but the Roman past of Paris is often overlooked. To wit, the quiet remnant of an ancient Lutetian amphitheater that has no guard, no entry fee, and few tourists.


Louis XIV’s Globes


Quartier de la Gare • Created during the 17th-century reign of the Sun King, the golden age of French art, literature, and geographical exploration, two exquisite globes—the Earth and the cosmos—each 20 feet (6 m) in diameter, glow overhead at the National Library.






Musée Fragonard


Paris


At the Musée Fragonard, human fetuses dance a jig alongside a ten-legged sheep while a skinless horseman of the apocalypse looks on.


Founded in 1766 as a veter­i­nary school with a private collection, the museum has rooms devoted to anatomy, physical abnormalities, articulated animal skeletons, and disease. However, by far the most striking room is the collection of écorchés, or “flayed figures,” created by Honoré Fragonard.


Louis XV appointed Fragonard as a professor at the first veterinary school in Lyon, and it was there that he began skinning and preserving animal and, later, human corpses. Though he intended for his écorchés to be used as educational tools, Fragonard arranged many of his figures into theatrical poses, creating eerie posthumous narratives. The horseman of the apocalypse, inspired by Albrecht Dürer’s painting, is the most notable example. A skinless corpse with dried, varnished muscles and unnerving glass eyes sits astride a similarly preserved horse caught mid-gallop, the thick arteries of its neck filled with red wax. Reins loop from the animal’s mouth and over the rigid sinew of the rider’s hands.




Fragonard worked in Lyon for six years before his flayed figures began frightening the townspeople. He was dismissed from the institution amid accusations of insanity. The public would not see the flayed figures until the Fragonard museum opened in 1991.


7, avenue de Général de Gaulle, Maisons-Alfort. Located in a suburb of Paris, you can take the Métro to École Veterinaire de Maisons-Alfoet. N 48.812714 E 2.422311
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A deceased rider flogging a dead horse.





Also in and Near Paris


Dans le Noir?


Paris · Dine in complete darkness at this restaurant chain, staffed by vision-impaired waiters.


Eyewear Museum


Paris · A tiny museum filled with hundreds of famous spectacles.


The French Freemasonry Museum


Paris · Peek into the private world of a secret society.


Musée de la Contrefaçon


Paris · A museum dedicated to French counterfeits, from pens to pants.


Musée de la Magie


Paris · A museum documenting the history of magic in what was once the basement home of the Marquis de Sade.


Musée d’Anatomie Delmas-Orfila-Rouvière


Paris · France’s largest collection of human anatomy specimens sits hidden from the public.


Musée des Arts et Métiers


Paris · The national museum of scientific and industrial instruments is home to Foucault’s actual pendulum.


The Dog Cemetery


Asniéres-sur-Seine · Pay your respects at a pet graveyard dating back to the late 1800s.


Absinthe Museum


Auvers-sur-Oise · Learn about the history of the delicious beverage called the “green fairy”—purported to cause wild hallucinations and insanity, and banned in Europe and the US for nearly 100 years.


Musée Mondial de l’Aérostation


Balleroy · The top floor of this chateau is dedicated to the sport of ballooning.


Heart of the Dauphin


Saint-Denis · A crystal jar in the Basilica of Saint-Denis holds Louis XVI’s small, withered heart.


The Rat King


Nantes, Pays de la Loire
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Tucked away in the Natural History Museum among the beautiful taxidermy birds, sparkling minerals, and mammal skeletons is a very rare and possibly forged specimen: a rat king. Folklore holds that rat kings are formed when a group of rats get their tails inextricably entangled. Thus trapped, the creatures spend the rest of their lives intertwined and unable to move, relying on other rats to bring them food.


The Nantes rat king specimen, found in 1986, consists of nine conjoined rodents preserved in alcohol. It is one of only a handful of cases ever found, though scientific consensus considers its natural occurrence unlikely.


12, rue Voltaire, Nantes. Take the tram to Médiathèque. N 47.212446 W 1.564685



Le Palais Idéal


Hauterives, RhÔne-Alpes


It all began with a postman and a pebble. Walking on his usual mail delivery route in 1879, Ferdinand Cheval tripped on a rock, took note of its peculiar shape, and had a sudden vision of a grand palace made of irregular stones. For the next 33 years, he worked diligently to transfer the palace from his imagination into reality, collecting rocks in a wheelbarrow while delivering letters. An oil lamp guided his hands as he worked on the palace alone at night. Not once did he ask for, or receive, help.


Cheval had little formal education and no architectural experience. His stone, cement, and wire creation was inspired by different styles and eras, incorporating Chinese, Algerian, and Northern European designs. The final castle (the Ideal Palace) is a magnificent tangle of grottoes, flying buttresses, and animal statues. A shrine holds the wooden wheelbarrow that carried the rocks.


When French authorities denied Cheval’s wish to be buried within his palace, he was undeterred. Over the next eight years, the 80-year-old self-made architect built his own magnificent vault in the local cemetery, in a style closely resembling that of Le Palais Idéal. He died a year after its completion.


8, rue du Palais, Hauterives. The palace is 30 miles (48.3 km) south of Lyon, just off D538. The nearest train station is St. Vallier sur Rhône, a 45-minute ride from Lyon. N 45.255889 E 5.027794
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“Everything you can see, passer-by, is the work of one peasant” is inscribed on the wall of this postman’s castle.







World’s Largest Solar Furnace


Odeillo, Languedoc-Roussillon


A solar furnace uses a large concave surface of mirrors to reflect sunlight onto a focal point the size of a cooking pot. The temperature at this point may reach above 6,000°F (3,315°C), enough to generate electricity, melt metal, or produce hydrogen fuel.


The world’s largest solar furnace is located in Font-Romeu-Odeillo-Via, a commune in the sunny Pyrenees mountains on the French-Spanish border. Operational since 1970, it uses a field of 10,000 ground-mounted mirrors to bounce the sun’s rays onto a large concave mirror that shows a distorted, upside-down reflection of the countryside. Tours of the site include workshops and demonstrations on renewable energy and the solar system.


Grand Four Solaire d’Odeillo, 7, rue du Four Solaire, Font-Romeu-Odeillo-Via. The Odeillo station, a 15-minute walk from the furnace, is a stop on the scenic Little Yellow Train route. The train, which has two open-air carriages, offers splendid views of valleys, mountains, and Villefranche-de-Conflent, a fortified medieval town. N 42.494916 E 2.035357
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The Odeillo solar furnace benefits from southern France’s 2,400 hours of sunshine per year.





Also in Southern France


Bugarach Mountain


Bugarach · New Agers believe this mountain spaceship is home to aliens who will rescue them in the apocalypse. It was the site of much hubbub around the Mayan Doomsday predictions of 2012.


Nude City


Cap d’Adge · Nudity is legal and common at this family-style resort. Roughly 40,000 daily visitors dine, shop, and stroll naked.


Carriolu Miniature Village


Carriolu · French cheese maker Jean-Claude Marchi has built a meticulously detailed mini village out of pebbles.



Germany


Space Travel Museum


Feucht, Bavaria


Dedicated to space technology, the Hermann Oberth Space Travel Museum celebrates the zeal and inventiveness of its namesake—one of the forgotten founding fathers of rocketry and modern astronautics.


Born in 1894, Hermann Oberth was interested in astronomy from a young age. After reading Jules Verne’s From the Earth to the Moon at 11, Oberth began sketching designs for rockets. By the time he was 14, Oberth designed plans for a recoil rocket that could propel itself through space by expelling exhaust gases from its base. (This was quite the achievement for an adolescent, considering rockets meant for manned spaceflight would not exist for another 50 years.)


After studying physics, aerodynamics, and medicine at universities in Munich, Heidelberg, and Göttingen, Oberth published a 429-page tome in 1929 titled The Rocket into Interplanetary Space. The book had a global impact. It would have been a banner year for the newly esteemed scientist if not for the fact that he lost vision in his left eye while building a flying rocket model for Fritz Lang’s sci-fi film Woman in the Moon.




Exhibits inside the museum include a Cirrus rocket and a Kumulus rocket developed in the 1960s and launched outside of Cuxhaven, Germany. A Swiss Zenit sounding rocket is also on display.


Pfinzingstraße 12-14, Feucht. Feucht is a short S-Bahn ride from Nuremberg. N 48.136607 E 11.577085
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Hermann Oberth, the father of space travel, surrounded by his tools of the trade.





The Gallery of Beauties


Munich, Bavaria


Though married at 24, 19th-century Bavarian King Ludwig I kept 36 beautiful young women in his palace. Whenever he became enamored with a female acquaintance’s good looks, a portrait of her placid face would soon appear in the SchÖnheitgalerie, his Gallery of Beauties, a room in the south pavilion of Nymphenburg Palace—literally, Nymph Castle. The women are captured in their late teenage years or early twenties, milk-skinned and serene.


The standout work of the collection is Helene Sedlmayr, a doe-eyed, dark-haired shoemaker’s daughter who gave toys to Ludwig’s children. Her beauty was particularly appreciated by the king’s valet, Hermes Miller, with whom she went on to bear 10 children.




Schloss Nymphenburg, Eingang 19, Munich. The vast palace is 20 minutes via tram from central Munich toward Amalienburgstraße. N 48.136607 E 11.577085
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Included in this collection are portraits of the adventurous aristocrat Jane Digby and Irish performer Lola Montez.







Jeweled Skeleton of Saint Munditia


Munich, Bavaria


St. Peter’s Church, or “Alter Peter,” as locals call it, is Munich’s oldest church, dating from before the city’s founding in 1158. A quarter of the way down the aisle is a glass coffin bearing the skeleton of Saint Munditia, who met her end courtesy of a hatchet beheading in 310 ce. Once kept hidden in a wooden box, she was carefully adorned and put on display in 1883. Glass eyes stare out from the sockets of her sepia-stained skull. Jewels conceal her rotted teeth. And her skeleton, covered in gold and gemstones, has been reunited with her skull.


St. Peter’s Church, Rindermarkt 1, Munich. St. Munditia’s feast day, November 17, is celebrated with a candle procession at the church. N 48.136497 E 11.575672   [image: Images]
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Saint Munditia’s bejeweled right hand holds a glass container filled with dried blood.





[image: Images]  Jeweled Saints: Adorned and Adored


The practice of adorning the skeletons of saints with gold and jewels began after the rediscovery of the Roman catacombs in 1578. It was a tumultuous time for the Catholic Church—Protestant reformers had revolted against Catholic practices perceived as corrupt. In addition to criticizing papal authority, transubstantiation, purgatory, and confession, they also found the Church’s excessive veneration of saints and their relics to be contrary to the teachings of scripture.


In response to the Protestant Reformation, a meeting of Catholic cardinals known as the Council of Trent set out to restore the Church’s image. One way of doing that was to double down on the spiritual power of saints and their relics. The Church took the skeletons of supposed saints from the Roman catacombs and displayed them dressed in the elaborately embellished clothing of the time. This practice continued until the mid-1700s, and the jeweled skeletons found their final resting places in churches around Europe.


Waldsassen Basilica, a Bavarian church near the Czech border, has the largest collection of jeweled saints: There are 10 of them lining the aisles, each one in a glass case. Known as the Holy Bodies, the skeletons, many of whom have their teeth intact, seem to smile beatifically.



Eisbachwelle


Munich, Bavaria


If you’re riding the Munich subway in the dead of winter and see someone carrying a surfboard, chances are they’re headed for the Eisbach, the artificial stream that runs through Munich’s biggest park, the English Gardens. A 1.5-foot (.5 m) stationary wave at a spot beneath a bridge was once an occasional sight, until local surfers funneled it into a more forceful, permanent swell by installing planks of wood on the sides of the river. Now the site attracts wave riders who brave the cold water—39°F in winter, 60°F in summer—to surf the stream in front of a crowd of onlookers.


So popular is the site that queues of surfers form on both sides of the narrow river. Those who pioneered the permanent wave have become disgruntled by the mass influx of newcomers, but their real ire is reserved for beginner surfers who lack the skills to conquer the wave.


Englischer Garten, Munich. Get the U-Bahn to Lehel. The surf spot is at a river bridge in the English Gardens, just north of the Haus der Kunst art museum. There are three stationary waves in Munich, some better suited to beginners. N 48.173644 E 11.613079
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Surf’s up at the English Gardens, where there’s an artificial wave beneath the bridge.





The Externsteine


Horn-Bad Meinberg, North Rhine-Westphalia


The Externsteine, translated variously as “stones of the ridge” or the “Star Stones,” are a collection of limestone formations that jut up from the ground in a forest south of Detmold. There is scant evidence of the site’s historical significance, but among the few known facts is that Christian monks carved stairs and reliefs into the stones during the late 8th century.


The Externsteine were a blank slate for Heinrich Himmler and his Third Reich comrades. Himmler was the head of the Nazi’s occult division, Ahnenerbe, a pseudo-scientific think tank devoted to finding or—in many cases—fabricating an honorable and far-reaching Germanic history. The society identified the Externsteine as an important location of ancient Teutonic activity.


Today, the site remains a pilgrimage spot for both neo-pagans and neo-Nazis. Visit on the summer solstice, or on the celebration of Walpurgisnacht, and you will encounter a motley crew of pagans, hippies, mystics, and skinheads—each group celebrating for different reasons.


Externsteine Strasse, Horn-Bad Meinberg. Walpurgisnacht is April 30. N 51.867376 E 8.918495
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Between neo-pagans and neo-Nazis, the Star Stones have drawn quite the curious cult following.





Also in Southern Germany


German Butcher Museum


Böblingen · Learn about the development and history of animal butchery. A strong stomach is recommended.


Heidelberg Thingstätte


Heidelberg · A Nazi-built stone amphitheater sits on a hill littered with ancient burial grounds.


Nördlingen


Nördlingen · A town centered in a 15-million-year-old meteor crater in the Bavarian countryside.


European Asparagus Museum


Schrobenhausen · A museum dedicated to Germany’s favorite “royal vegetable.”


The Pig Museum


Stuttgart · An old slaughterhouse turned museum with 25 themed rooms dedicated to pig paraphernalia.



Thousand-Year Rose


Hildesheim, Lower Saxony
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The wild shrub that sprawls up a wall of Hildesheim Cathedral is believed to be the oldest living rose bush in the world.


Local tradition says that in 815, Louis the Pious, King of the Franks, was on a hunting trip in Hildesheim and stopped to observe Mass. After departing the area, he realized he had left behind a relic of the Blessed Virgin Mary. When he returned to retrieve it, he discovered the relic caught in a dog rose bush that refused to let it go. Taking this as a sign of the divine, Louis had a chapel built around the rose bush. In the 11th century, the chapel was expanded into what became Hildesheim Cathedral.


Even if the rose bush isn’t as old as its legend, it has certainly proven its resilience. In March 1945, Allied bombs leveled the cathedral. Somehow, out of the burning rubble, the rose bush flourished once more. It now covers a courtyard-facing outer wall of the cathedral, which was rebuilt between 1950 and 1960.


Domhof 17, Hildesheim. To see the roses in bloom, visit at the end of May. N 52.148889 E 9.947222




Kaspar Hauser Monument


Ansbach, Bavaria


On a quiet street in the small city of Ansbach stand two statues depicting the same person, one as a boy and the other as a young man. They are both the mysterious Kaspar Hauser. The odd, unresolved story of Kaspar Hauser began on a May afternoon in 1828, when a stumbling, squinting teenage boy appeared on the streets of Nuremberg. The 4-foot-9-inch (1.4 m) Hauser had pale, soft skin, spoke few words, and seemed ill at ease among people. He carried two letters: The first, dated 1828, detailed the hardships that forced the author—apparently the boy’s caretaker—to give him up. It ended with an ultimatum: Take care of Kaspar or, if you cannot, kill him. The second letter, dated 1812, was written by Kaspar’s mother. She stated that she could not afford to raise him, and wished for him to join the Sixth Cavalry regiment at Nuremberg when he turned 17. A close examination of the letters revealed they were likely written by the same person in a single session.


The mystery deepened when Kaspar began talking. He claimed he spent his childhood locked in a small, dark cell, never seeing another person and waking up each day to a meal of bread and water. His only human contact, he said, was with a man who arrived shortly before his release and taught him to say the phrase, “I want to be a cavalryman like my father.”


Frederich Daumer, a professor, took Kaspar into his home and taught him to speak German, ride horses, and draw. The boy began to adapt to his environment, but his highly attuned senses and inexplicable sensitivity to magnets and metal caused him anguish. One day in October 1829, Kaspar appeared with a bleeding wound on his forehead, claiming he had been attacked by a hooded man while using the bathroom. The man was never found, and the wound may have been self-inflicted. A few months later, a gunshot rang out from Kaspar’s room. Again he was discovered with a wound to the head, this time declaring he had knocked a pistol to the ground, where it accidentally went off.


Kaspar’s strange life ended in 1833, when he sustained a fatal stab to the chest at the palace gardens in Ansbach. He said a man had lured him there and lunged at him. He even provided a note from the assailant.


Platenstrasse, Ansbach. Kaspar Hauser is also remembered at Ansbach’s Markgrafenmuseum, which exhibits the bloodstained clothes he was found in, the two letters, and some of his personal belongings. N 49.302248 E 10.570951
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The man at left represents an adult Kaspar, while the boy on the right is Kaspar as a “feral child.”





Also in Northern Germany


Museum of Letters, Characters, and Typefaces


Berlin · Peruse a collection of typographical objects, such as giant letterforms taken from signs. The museum recycles and archives letters from a wide range of languages and fonts.


Spreepark


Berlin · A now-abandoned amusement park that was closed when the owner was discovered smuggling drugs in the park’s rides. These days it’s popular with urban explorers.


Spicy’s Spice Museum


Hamburg · A museum dedicated to spices from around the world, the only one of its kind.


Karl Junker House


Lemgo · Visit the single intricate masterpiece of a posthumously diagnosed schizophrenic architect.


Castle of Wewelsburg


Wewelsburg, North Rhine-Westphalia


SS leader Heinrich Himmler had grand, horrifying plans for the triangular Renaissance castle in Wewelsburg. In 1934, undeterred by its dilapidated state, he signed a 100-year lease on the property. His mission was to turn the castle into an SS training center, where young Aryan minds could study Nazi-skewed versions of history, archaeology, astronomy, and art.


The SS redesigned the castle, incorporating swastikas and occult symbols, and used slave laborers from the nearby Niederhagen and Sachsenhausen concentration camps to bring the plans to life. Nazi-approved artwork and historical objects decorated the halls. The focal point of the redesign was a circular chamber known as “the crypt,” which featured an eternal flame at the center of the room surrounded by 12 seats—an allusion to the Knights of the Round Table. On the ceiling was a large swastika.


As construction continued, Himmler expanded his vision for the town of Wewelsburg. From 1941, he began to view it as the future center of the new world order, with the castle anchoring a village populated exclusively by SS leaders. But in spite of all the plans, SS training never took place at Wewelsburg. The SS did conduct meetings there, and it functioned as a venue for SS officer marriage consecrations—although prospective spouses had to provide genealogical documentation proving their Aryan heritage before the ceremony could take place.


After Germany’s 1943 defeat at Stalingrad—regarded as the beginning of the end for the Nazis—construction at Wewelsburg halted. On March 30, 1945, a month before Hitler’s suicide, Himmler ordered SS major Heinz Macher to destroy the castle. The US Third Infantry Division arrived the next day to discover the castle interior in ashes. Only the outside walls remained.


Today, Wewelsburg is one of Germany’s largest youth hostels, offering 204-bed accommodations and team-building programs for schoolchildren. A museum at the entrance presents the history of the SS and pays tribute to its victims.


Burgwall 19, Büren. From the Paderborn train station, take a half-hour bus ride to Büren-Wewelsburg. The castle is a three-minute walk from the Schule/Kreismuseum stop. N 51.606991 E 8.651241
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From Nazi indoctrination center to youth hostel.






The Impaled Stork


Rostock, Mecklenburg-Vorpommern
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Until the 19th century, the annual disappearance of white storks each fall puzzled European bird-watchers. Aristotle thought the storks went into hibernation with the other disappearing avian species, perhaps at the bottom of the sea. Other hypotheses argued that the disappearing birds flew to the moon to escape the cold weather.


In 1822, a stunning piece of evidence proved key to solving the mystery of the disappearing birds. A white stork, shot on the Bothmer Estate near Mecklenburg, was discovered with a 2.5-foot-long (80 cm) Central African spear embedded in its neck. Remarkably, the stork had flown all the way from its equatorial wintering grounds in this impaled state.


The stork now sits alongside the 60,000 other specimens of water animals, mollusks, birds, and insects of the University of Rostock’s Zoological Collection.


Universitätsplatz 2, Rostock. Get a bus or tram to Lange Straße and walk two blocks south. N 54.087436 E 12.134371


Also in Northwestern Germany


Wunderland Kalkar


North Rhine-Westphalia · An amusement park built on the grounds of an unused nuclear reactor.


The Wuppertal Suspension Railway


Wuppertal · The name of the world’s oldest monorail system translates as “floating railway.”


Teufelsberg Spy Station


berlin


Atop a mountain in Grunewald forest, about six miles (9.7 km) west of central Berlin, are two sphere-topped cylindrical towers wrapped in shredded white canvas. During the Cold War, these buildings were part of Field Station Berlin, an NSA listening post where spies could tune in to Soviet radio frequencies.


The spy station was constructed on top of a Nazi military college complex built in 1937. Intended to be part of Hitler’s World Capital Germania—a revitalized National Socialist version of Berlin—the college was abandoned at the start of World War II.


Postwar, the rubble of bombed-out Berlin was trucked to Grunewald and dumped on top of the college in a pile that topped 37 stories and became known as Teufelsberg: German for “Devil’s Mountain.” In 1963, the NSA station began operating in newly constructed buildings at the top of Teufelsberg, its satellite antennae positioned in prime hilltop spots concealed by the canvas-covered spheres.


The station became a key surveillance post for American and British intelligence officers studying the goings-on in East Germany. After the fall of the Berlin Wall, the station was abandoned. In 1996 the site was sold to property developers Hartmut Gruhl and Hanfried Schütte, who envisioned a bold transformation involving luxury apartments, a hotel, and a restaurant. Those plans, however, have not materialized. The former NSA station is still at Teufelsberg, and has attracted artists looking to make their mark on its abandoned walls and, eventually, establish an official residency.


From Berlin, get a train to the Heerstrasse S-bahn stop and walk to Teufelsberg via the Teufelsseestrasse. You may encounter tour guides at the gate asking you for a fee to visit the site. N 52.497992 E 13.241283
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The tattered mountaintop remains of an NSA listening post, built atop a Nazi military college.







City Guide: More to Explore in Berlin


Subterranean Berlin


Brunnenstraße • A tour of the subterranean city meanders through abandoned tunnels, old hospitals, secret bunkers, World War II munitions storage, and Cold War–era passages used by dissenters to escape from East Germany.


Spandau Citadel


Spandau • Since the 12th century, a strategic island at the convergence of the Havel and Spree Rivers has been the site of a protective citadel, including the 13th-century Julius Tower (Berlin’s oldest building) and 16th-century fortifications. Today it is the site of tours, concerts, and festivals.


Gardens of the World


Marzahn-Hellersdorf • Once an austere East Berlin park, it was transformed in 1987 into Gardens of the World, 50 acres of lush gardens: Chinese, Japanese, Italian, some even biblical and fairy-tale themed.


Tieranatomisches Theater


Mitte • Within this elegant anatomical theater built in 1789, with its airy dome and pastoral murals, live the ghosts of thousands of animals dissected under the orders of King Frederick William II, who thought the four-legged citizens of Berlin needed a dedicated veterinary school.


Designpanoptikum


Mitte • A shrine to the art of repurposing, recycling, and reengineering, the Surrealist Museum of Industrial Objects is a disorienting trip through an inspired world of retro machinery, strange medical devices, and a few interesting things stolen from the salvage yard.


Tajikistan Tearoom


Mitte • A little taste of Tajikistan dropped into a central Berlin courtyard, this classic Central Asian–style tearoom is plush with Persian carpets, pillows, and tapestries, and beckons you to lounge on the floor to enjoy a traditional tea service.


Hall of Mirrors, Clarchens Ballhaus


Mitte • Off to the side of Clarchens Ballhaus, an ornate dance hall that predates World War I, there is a mirrored ballroom that still carries the spirit of Wilhelmine Germany, moody and evocative, and mostly undiscovered, even by locals.


Monsterkabinett


Mitte • A design and robotics studio is the creation of the curiously named Dead Pigeon Collective, where unnerving human-androids turn dreams into nightmares and nightmares into eerie performance art.


Hohenzollern Crypt


Mitte • Beneath the Baroque cathedral in the center of the city is the world’s largest collection of dead Prussian royals, sent into the afterlife in gorgeous gilded style.


DDR Museum


Mitte • An interactive museum of life in Deutsche Demokratische Republik (East Germany), including a cafeteria that serves up Soviet bloc cuisine, televisions that play crusty old state-run programming, and telephones that are very likely recording your conversations.
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These murals embody Berlin’s hopes for a brighter future.


Hatch Sticker Museum





Friedrichshain • Opened in 2008 as a side venture for Oliver Baudach and his skate-cult sticker company, this small museum pulls mostly from Baudach’s own bottomless pile of vintage street slicks.


Hansa Studios


Mitte • A magnificent recording studio, with glowing chandeliers, gleaming parquet floors, and original 1913 architectural detail, where some of the all-time greats have laid down tracks—from Iggy Pop to David Bowie to R.E.M.


Museum of Things


Friedrichshain • Brimming with more than 35,000 vintage and unique pieces, this collection, including kitchenware, advertisements, packaging, and children’s toys, honors the beauty and simplicity found in 20th-century design.


East Side Gallery


Friedrichshain • An open-air art gallery of more than a hundred murals, these reclaimed vestiges of the Berlin Wall have been transformed by a cadre of international artists from the once-impenetrable symbol of suppression into a stark reminder of the fragility of freedom.


Ramones Museum


Friedrichshain • Blitzkrieg bop your way through a collection of more than 500 pieces of memorabilia, including posters, signed photos, ticket stubs, and pants worn by actual Ramones.


Schwerbelastungskörper


Tempelhof • Originally built in the early 1940s to test some Nazi theories of construction, this enormous concrete cylinder—now sunk into Berlin’s cushy soil—is too massive to demolish. Visitors can tour its interior rooms.


Tempelhof Field


Tempelhof • The city’s oldest airfield hasn’t seen a plane come or go for nearly a decade, but its new life as a public park raises hopes of preserving the airport’s old Art Deco–style buildings, a throwback to a time when air travel was still in its glamorous youth.


Peacock Island


Berlin-Wannsee • Sitting within the rush of the River Havel, this quiet oasis is scattered with abandoned buildings, flocks of wild peacocks, and the facade of a fairy-tale castle built by a Prussian king.
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Greece


Markopoulo Snake Festival


Cephalonia, Markopoulo


For Orthodox Christians, August 15 commemorates the Assumption of the Virgin Mary into Heaven. At the small hamlet of Markopoulo, on the island of Cephalonia, villagers celebrate by collecting snakes in bags and bringing them to the church, where they slither over feet, flick their tongues at a portrait of Mary and Jesus, and are placed on children’s heads for good luck.


The combination of Jesus’s mother and snakes—a Biblical symbol for evil and corruption—may seem incongruous, but the basis for the tradition is a miracle said to have taken place on the island in 1705. That year, the story goes, nuns in the village convent escaped a gang of attacking pirates when the Virgin answered their prayers to be transformed into snakes.


The serpents—a small, non-threatening species known as the European Cat Snake—now make an annual appearance at the Church of Virgin Mary, where the faithful and the curious gather to handle them. According to locals, the snakes only emerge in the days leading up to the festival, and cannot be found on the island during the rest of the year.


Markopoulo is a one-hour flight west of Athens. N 38.080451 E 20.732007
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Festival snakes are non-poisonous and defanged prior to church service.








Antikythera Mechanism


Athens
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An ancient geared computer that uses technology lost in antiquity.





This corroded lump of bronze with a dial on top doesn’t look like much, but its discovery forced a complete reevaluation of ancient Greek engineering.


The Antikythera mechanism was part of a shipwreck that lay in the Mediterranean for over 2,000 years. In 1900, sponge divers happened upon the fragmented vessel and hauled the mechanism from the depths. It sat in a museum for 50 years before historians took a serious look at it. They discovered a device of unprecedented complexity.


The machine was built between 150 and 100 bce, and with over 30 gears hidden behind its dials, it is easily the most advanced technological artifact of the pre–Common Era. Regarded as the first known analog computer, the mechanism can make precise calculations based on astronomical and mathematical principles developed by the ancient Greeks.


Although its builder’s identity and its purpose on the ship remain unknown, after a century, scientists are beginning to understand how the device worked. To use the instrument, you would simply enter a date using a crank, and, when the gears stopped spinning, a wealth of information would appear at your fingertips: the positions of the sun, moon, planets, and stars, the lunar phase, the dates of upcoming solar eclipses, the speed of the moon through the sky, and even the dates of the ancient Olympic games. The mechanism’s calendar dial could compensate for the extra quarter day in the astronomical year by turning the scale back one day every four years—impressive, given that the Julian calendar, which was the first in the region to include leap years, was not introduced until decades after the instrument was built.


Today, the Antikythera mechanism is housed in the Bronze Collection of the National Archaeological Museum of Athens. The device continues to reveal its secrets to the researchers of the Antikythera Mechanism Research Project, an international effort supported by various universities and technology companies.


National Archaeological Museum, 44 Patission Street, Athens. N 37.989906 E 23.731005


The Easter Rocket War


Vrontados, Chios


Since the 19th century, a pair of rival parishes on the Greek island of Chios have celebrated Easter not with bunnies or eggs, but by launching thousands of flaming projectiles at each other’s churches while congregants observe Mass inside. When the sun sets on the eve of Orthodox Easter Sunday, members of the Angios Marcos and Panaghia Ereithiani churches—wearing bandanas over their faces to filter out the sulfur-scented smoke—launch the cigar-size rockets from ramps. They blaze across the sky in quick succession, leaving trails of vapor and providing a cacophonous accompaniment to the solemn Easter services taking place within the churches. (Wire mesh protects the windows from damage.)


The origin of this Orthodox yet unorthodox tradition is uncertain, but likely began as an act of defiance against Ottoman occupiers during the 19th century. (There are two versions of the story: In the first, the islanders launched rockets after the Turks confiscated their cannons. In the second, locals fired rockets at each other’s churches to keep the Turks away during Easter services.)


The aim of the proceedings is to hit the opposing church’s bell tower, but this goal is largely irrelevant given the general chaos of the evening—neither side is declared the victor of the “war,” and an annual rematch is assured.


Orthodox Easter is in April or early May. From Athens, the island of Chios is a 45-minute flight or 7-hour ferry ride. N 38.370981 E 26.136346
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On the island of Chios, Easter is a time of rebirth, renewal, and shooting rockets at churches.






Mount Athos Monastery


Mount Athos


On a mist-shrouded peninsula east of Thessaloniki is a place where time has stalled and the rules of the modern world do not apply. Mount Athos, known to Greeks as the “holy mountain,” is the home of Eastern Orthodox monasticism. Self-governed, and running on Byzantine time—in which the day begins at sunset—Mount Athos accommodates 1,500 monks within its monasteries, most of which were built during the 10th century. The monks’ sole purpose in life is to become closer to God.


The monks believe that achieving complete oneness with Jesus Christ is only possible after death, but preparations are made throughout life. Every waking hour is spent praying or reflecting in silence. Monks, who wear long black robes to signify their death from the surrounding world, live in one of 20 communes, or, for those who prefer greater solitude, in cloisters or cells. There are eight hours of church services every day, beginning at 3 a.m. When not at church, monks pray individually, their lips moving silently under their long beards.


Women are forbidden from visiting or living on Mount Athos in accordance with the belief that a female presence would alter the social dynamics and impede the monks’ journey toward spiritual enlightenment. The absence of women, according to the monks, also makes it easier to live a life of celibacy. Finally, there is the consideration for the Virgin Mary. According to Athonite tradition, Mary was blown off course during her journey to Cyprus and landed on Mount Athos, where she converted its pagan tribes to Christianity. Banning women from the peninsula allows the Virgin to be revered as the only female influence.


Male visitors to Mount Athos are permitted to attend church services, dine with the monks, and stay overnight in one of the monasteries. A calm, pious demeanor is expected, as most travelers are Orthodox pilgrims seeking spiritual refuge and community.


To visit Mount Athos, you’ll need to obtain written permission from the Holy Executive Bureau in Thessaloniki. The office issues about 10 permits per day to non-Orthodox travelers, and 100 to Greek Orthodox travelers—contact them six months in advance to avoid disappointment. From Thessaloniki, get a bus to the small village of Ouranoupolis, where a ferry will transport you to Mount Athos. Female travelers may view the verdant hills and ancient monasteries from a distance on a boat tour. N 40.157222 E 24.326389
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Built on the side of a cliff, this isolated sanctuary is home to 1,500 monks.






cyprus


Varosha Beach Resort


Famagusta
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Turquoise water, golden beaches, and signs illustrated with a gun-toting soldier that read “Forbidden Zone”—this is the resort town of Varosha.


Since 1974, the northern and southern parts of Cyprus have been divided by the “Green Line,” a UN buffer zone that splits the country into the Greek-controlled south and the Turkish-controlled north. The division happened amid much violence: After the Greek military junta backed a coup against the Cypriot government, Turkey invaded Cyprus from the north, forcibly expelling hundreds of thousands of Greek Cypriots and driving them south. Turkish Cypriots in the south abandoned their homes and headed north.


In the early ’70s, Famagusta, a town 2 miles north of the Green Line, was the top tourist destination in Cyprus. Its beachside Varosha quarter, dotted with high-rise hotels, played host to moneyed movie stars like Elizabeth Taylor and Brigitte Bardot. In the wake of the Turkish invasion, its 39,000 residents fled, and Varosha became a ghost town. It has remained enclosed in barbed wire, uninhabited, and under the control of the Turkish military ever since. Left unmaintained for decades, buildings are slowly collapsing.


Just a few feet north of the fenced-off zone is the Arkin Palm Beach Hotel, a newly renovated resort where visitors can sip Caribbean-inspired cocktails beside the lagoon-shaped pool while gazing at the crumbling balconies of the decayed resort next door.


Varosha is closed to the public but visible through barbed-wire fences from the Arkin Palm Beach Hotel area. Photographing the town is forbidden, and soldiers will stop you if they suspect you are carrying a camera. N 35.116534 E 33.958992




Italy


Villa de Vecchi


Cortenova


Just east of Lake Como, at the foot of the forested mountains of Cortenova, sits a house that’s said to be haunted. Villa de Vecchi, also called the Red House, Ghost Mansion, and Casa delle Streghe (House of the Witches), was built between 1854 and 1857 as a summer residence for Count Felix de Vecchi. Within a few short years of its completion, the house witnessed an inexplicable string of tragedies that would forever cement its gothic legacy.


De Vecchi, head of the Italian National Guard and a decorated hero, set out to build a dream retreat for his family with the help of architect Alessandro Sidoli. A year before the villa was complete, Sidoli died. Many would later view this as the first ill omen. Nevertheless, the count and his family made Villa de Vecchi their home during the spring and summer months, and by most accounts lead an idyllic—if brief—existence.


The great mansion boasted a blend of Baroque and classical Eastern styles and was outfitted with all the modern conveniences of the time, including indoor heating pipes and painstakingly detailed frescoes and friezes. A larger-than-life fireplace presided over the main parlor, where a grand piano stood at the ready. Extensive gardens, promenades, and an equally impressive staff house rounded out the already picturesque surroundings.


Legend has it that in 1862 the count returned home to find his wife murdered and daughter missing. The count commandeered a lengthy, unsuccessful search for his daughter before dying by suicide that same year. The house made the rounds of owners and prospective buyers, but by the 1960s was left permanently uninhabited.


While the natural elements began their assault early on, the majority of the abandoned house’s irreversible damage has been done by humans. Graffiti covers the walls, and anything capable of being vandalized has been given its due makeover. The grand piano, once said to be played at night by a ghostly entity, has since been smashed to pieces, though some locals claim that music can still be heard coming from the house.


Note that if you enter the house, you are trespassing. An upper floor has collapsed, the stairs are rapidly deteriorating, and bits of ceiling regularly rain down. For safety’s sake—not to mention law-abidance—it’s best to admire from afar. N 46.003464 E 9.387661
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This decaying mansion may be Italy’s most haunted house.






Underground Temples of Damanhur


Baldissero Canavese, Piedmont


From 1978 to 1992, members of the Damanhur commune dug into the mountain where they lived, tapping into what they believed were energy lines connecting the Earth to the cosmos. Their excavations were done in secret: Having neglected to secure planning approval, they had to conceal their work from authorities. But the world would eventually find out.


Led by philosopher, writer, and painter Oberto Airaudi, the “eco-society” of Damanhur began in 1975 with about 24 members. Billing itself as a “laboratory for the future of humanity,” Damanhur is based on neo-pagan and New Age beliefs with emphasis on creative expression, meditation, and spiritual healing. Residents adopt animal and plant names (such as “Sparrow Pinecone”) and live in “nucleo-communities” of 20 people in the foothills of the Alps, 30 miles (50 km) north of Turin.


Some former members have railed against Damanhur’s sunny-spirited collective, describing it as a cult. It was an ex-Damanhurian who tipped off police about the unauthorized underground construction. When three officers and a public prosecutor arrived to conduct an early-morning raid, they were astonished. Beneath a humble farmhouse, behind a secret door, was a collection of temples spanning five levels.


Damanhur citizens had spent a decade and a half working around the clock in shifts to excavate 8,500 cubic meters of earth and rock. They decorated each hall and hallway in a different theme, with murals, stained-glass windows, mirrors, and mosaics. The New Age, 1970s-style artwork depicts everything from the history of the universe to a forest of endangered animals to the International Space Station. The perimeter of one of the circular rooms is cluttered with sculptures, due to the directive that each member of the community must carve a statue in their own likeness.


Boggled by the unexpected beauty of the subterranean halls, Italian police granted a retro-active construction permit. The eco-society, which currently numbers around 1,000 members, now welcomes visitors to its temples.


Via Pramarzo, 3 Baldissero Canavese. N 45.417763 E 7.748451
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Minimalism is frowned upon among the interior decorators of Damanhur. Above, the Hall of Earth; below, a section map of the underground temple.
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1. Hall of Mirrors


2. Hall of Spheres


3. Hall of Metals


4. Earth Hall


5. Water Hall


6. Blue Temple


7. Labyrinth






Poveglia Island


Venice, Veneto


The first challenge to visiting Poveglia is finding someone to take you there. It won’t be easy. Poveglia, an island just south of Venice, is strictly off-limits for both locals and tourists. Given the island’s history, you’ll understand why.


For much of its history, Poveglia was a dumping ground for the diseased, the dying, and the mentally ill. In the early 15th century, it functioned as a quarantine island. Those afflicted by one of the many Black Death plagues over the years were taken to the island, along with disease-ridden corpses. The living shivered and vomited blood while the hundreds of dead were thrown into plague pits and burned. The remains of an estimated 160,000 people are mixed into the island’s soil.


In 1922, a psychiatric hospital opened on the island. Legend holds that one of the doctors, a sadistic man fond of experimenting on his patients, threw himself off the bell tower after being haunted by the spirits of those who had died on the island. (In some versions of the story, he is thrown off the tower, presumably by a vengeful patient.)


The hospital building, which closed in 1968, is still on Poveglia, covered in scaffolding and colonized by trees. Rusting bed frames, rotting wood beams, and pieces of the ceiling litter the floors. In the bushes surrounding the hospital are the rectangular metal grates that were once fastened to every window to keep patients trapped in their rooms.


Officially, Poveglia is off-limits to visitors. Unofficially, you might find a Venetian boat operator to take you—especially if you’re willing to offer a heap of euros. N 45.381879 E 12.331196
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Poveglia, also known as Plague Island, is guarded by an octagonal fort.





Wooden Books of Padua University


San Vito di Cadore, Veneto


[image: Images]


Each book in this 56-volume collection tells the story of a particular tree—not in words or illustrations, but with parts of the tree itself.


The wooden books of Padua University date from the late 1700s and early 1800s. While most books are made from wood—pulped into paper—these are different: The back and front covers are made from the tree’s wood, its spine made of the tree’s bark. Inside are samples of the tree’s leaves, twigs, flowers, seeds, and roots. Each book is accompanied by a handwritten piece of parchment with a key explaining the contents.


41 Via Ferdinando Ossi, San Vito Di Cadore. N 46.453240 E 12.213190



La Specola


Florence, Tuscany


In 18th-century Florence, artists created wax anatomical models to show medical students what lay beneath the skin of the human body. The model-making process was labor-intensive and began with an artist pressing plaster against the individual organs of a recently dissected cadaver to create a cast. Wax was poured into the molds and each organ painted and varnished. All the body parts were then assembled into a wax torso and overlaid with muscles and membranes, which were either simulated with thread or painted on.


The works were so uncannily realistic—red, glistening muscles lying taut against knobby bones, encased in an intricate web of veins—that it was felt the artistry deserved a wider audience. In 1775, the figures were put on display at La Specola, a natural history and zoology museum established by the Medici family. Over several generations, the Medicis amassed a vast quantity of fossils, minerals, animals, and plants. When La Specola opened, it became the first publicly accessible science museum in Europe. It featured consistent hours of operation, tour guides, and guards.


Today, La Specola contains 34 rooms filled with human and animal wax models, zoological specimen taxidermy, and medical instruments. Particularly compelling are the wax anatomical Venuses—naked women posed in demure but erotic poses, with their abdominal skin removed and rib cages pulled open to expose the organs underneath. The Marquis de Sade, who harbored a taste for sexual violence, had a particular fondness for these sensuous, gutted female forms.


Via Romana, 17, Florence. Get a bus to San Felice. For a picturesque chaser, visit the Pitti Palace and the Boboli Gardens afterward—they’re right next door. N 43.764487 E 11.246972   [image: Images]
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The exhibits at La Specola show what’s under the skin.





Galileo’s Middle Finger


Florence, Tuscany


[image: Images]


It’s hard to think of a more fitting tribute to the ever-defiant Galileo than displaying his middle finger in a goblet accented with gold.


Ninety-five years after Galileo’s death in 1642, Anton Francesco Gori, a Florentine priest and scholar, pocketed the astronomer’s finger while transporting his remains from their humble original grave to a monumental tomb. The relic was exhibited at Florence’s Laurentian Library until 1841, when the town’s Natural History Museum—also home to the anatomical and zoological museum La Specola—snatched it up for display.


In 1927, the finger landed at its current resting place—a museum devoted to scientific instruments that was renamed the Galileo Museum in 2010. The middle digit is the only human fragment among the institution’s telescopes, meteorological instruments, and mathematical models. It is mounted vertically in a goblet on a column with a commemorative inscription:


This is the finger, belonging to the illustrious hand that ran through the skies, pointing at the immense spaces, and singling out new stars.


Whether the middle finger points upward to the sky, where Galileo glimpsed the glory of the universe and saw God in mathematics, or if it sits eternally defiant to the church that condemned him is for the viewer to decide.


Galileo Museum, Piazza dei Giudici 1, Florence. N 43.767734 E 11.255903


[image: Images]  Other Medical Museums of Europe


Josephinum Vienna


Established in 1785, the Josephinum contains over 1,000 wax models, including anatomical Venuses and a heart seemingly floating under a glass dome.


The Narrenturm Vienna


The Narrenturm, or Fool’s Tower, was built in 1784 to house psychiatric patients suffering from such maladies as ecstasy, melancholy, and delirium tremens. Now the circular building, nicknamed the “pound cake” by locals, is an anatomy and pathology museum.


Museum Boerhaave Leiden, Netherlands


In one jar, a child’s arm protrudes from a lacy sleeve, its fingers suspending the vascular tissue of an eye as though it were a yo-yo. In another jar nearby, a lily-white pig with a deformed head floats. Walking through this museum’s exhibit halls filled with artifacts from the anatomical, medical, and scientific history of the Netherlands, visitors are pointedly reminded of their mortality.
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